Public Document Pack

CITY
LONDON

Planning and Transportation Committee

Date: TUESDAY, 2 DECEMBER 2025

Time: 10.30 am

Venue: LIVERY HALL - GUILDHALL

Members: Deputy Tom Sleigh (Chair) Antony Manchester
Shravan Joshi MBE (Deputy Tim McNally
Chair) Sophia Mooney
Tana Adkin KC Deputy Alastair Moss
Samapti Bagchi Alderwoman Jennette Newman
Deputy Emily Benn Deborah Oliver
Deputy John Edwards Deputy Henry Pollard
Deputy Marianne Fredericks Alderman Simon Pryke
Alderman Alison Gowman CBE Deputy Nighat Qureishi
Alderman Prem Goyal CBE Gaby Robertshaw
Deputy Madush Gupta Hugh Selka
Josephine Hayes Naresh Hari Sonpar
Deputy Jaspreet Hodgson William Upton KC
Amy Horscroft, Matthew Waters
Philip Kelvin Jacqui Webster
Alderwoman Elizabeth Anne King, David Williams
BEM JP

Charles Edward Lord, OBE JP

Enquiries:  Judith Dignum
judith.dignum@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Accessing the virtual public meeting
Members of the public can observe all virtual public meetings of the City of London
Corporation by following the below link:
https://www.youtube.com/@ CityofLondonCorporation/streams

A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of
the public meeting for up to one civic year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do not
constitute the formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available on the
City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion of the
proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material.



https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams

Whilst we endeavour to livestream all of our public meetings, this is not always possible
due to technical difficulties. In these instances, if possible, a recording will be uploaded
following the end of the meeting.

lan Thomas CBE
Town Clerk and Chief Executive



AGENDA

Part 1 - Public Agenda

APOLOGIES

MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA

MINUTES
To agree the public minutes of the meeting held on 21 October 2025.

For Decision
(Pages 7 - 20)

REVIEW OF THE CARBON OPTIONS GUIDANCE PLANNING ADVICE NOTE

Report of the Executive Director, Environment.

For Decision
(Pages 21 - 66)

*ENVIRONMENT DEPARTMENT BUSINESS PLAN 2025/26: PROGRESS REPORT

Report of the Executive Director, Environment.

For Information

*RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE

Report of the Executive Director, Environment.

For Information

*TRANSPORT STRATEGY: VISION ZERO ACTION PLAN ANNUAL REPORT

Report of the Executive Director, Environment.

For Information

*THE PLANNING AND INFRASTRUCTURE BILL

Report of the City Remembrancer and the Executive Director Environment.

For Information

3



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

*ANNUAL ON-STREET PARKING ACCOUNTS 2024/25 AND RELATED FUNDING
OF HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENTS AND SCHEMES

Report of the Chamberlain.

For Information

QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE

DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS

To note that meetings of the Committee will be held on the following dates in 2026:

2026

Day/Date Time
Monday 19 January 10am
Friday 13 March 10am
Thursday 28 May 10am
Thursday 18 June 1.45pm
Wednesday 8 September 10am
Tuesday 10 November 10am

Meetings will take place in Committee Rooms 3 and 4 at The Guildhall.

For Information

ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

MOTION — That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public
be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part | of the Schedule 12A of
the Local Government Act.

For Decision

Part 2 - Non-public Agenda

NON-PUBLIC MINUTES

To approve the non-public minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 21 October 2025.

For Decision



15.

16.

17.

18.

(Pages 67 - 68)

DEBT ARREARS - ENVIRONMENT DEPARTMENT (P&T COMMITTEE) - PERIOD
ENDING 30/09/25

Report of the Executive Director Environment.

For Information
(Pages 69 - 78)

HEAT NETWORK ZONING (PHASE 1) PROCUREMENT STAGE 1 REPORT

Report of the City Surveyor and Executive Director of Property.

For Information
(Pages 79 - 124)

NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE
COMMITTEE

ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED

Any drawings and details of materials submitted for approval will be available for
inspection by Members in the Livery Hall from Approximately 9:30 a.m.



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 3

PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 21 October 2025

Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Transportation Committee held at
the Guildhall EC2 at 10.30 am

Present

Members:

Deputy Tom Sleigh (Chair) Alderwoman Elizabeth Anne King, BEM JP

Shravan Joshi MBE (Deputy Chair) Charles Edward Lord, OBE JP

Tana Adkin Tim McNally

Samapti Bagchi Sophia Mooney

Deputy John Edwards Deborah Oliver

Deputy Marianne Fredericks Deputy Henry Pollard

Alderman Alison Gowman CBE Alderman Simon Pryke

Deputy Madush Gupta Robertshaw

Josephine Hayes Matthew Waters

Deputy Jaspreet Hodgson Jacqui Webster

Officers:

Gudrun Andrews Environment Department

James Flynn Environment Department

lan Hughes City Operations Director (City Streets and Spaces),
Environment Department

Lyndsay Jennings Environment Department

Rob McNicol Environment Department

Bruce McVean Environment Department

Paul Monaghan Environment Department

Tom Nancollas Environment Department

Gwyn Richards Environment Department
Planning and Development Director, Environment
Department

Lewis Robinson Environment Department

Katie Stewart Executive Director, Environment

Judith Dignum Town Clerk’s Department

Gemma Stokley Town Clerk’s Department

Chair’s Opening Remarks
In welcoming those present to the meeting, the Chair drew attention to the following
issues:

e Matthew Bell and Anthony Fitzpatrick had ceased to be members of the
Committee. The Court of Common Council had appointed David Williams in the
room of Mr Bell and, regarding Mr Fitpatrick’s Ward of Lime Street, had agreed
that it would be twinned with the Ward of Langbourn. The existing representative

Page 7



for Langbourn, Matthew Waters, would therefore become the new joint
representative. The Chair on behalf of Members thanked Mr Fitzpatrick for his
work over many years on the Committee.

The Chair reported that the City Corporation had enjoyed success at the recent
Building London Planning Awards 2025, designed to honour excellence in
planning and development across both public and private sectors in London. 100
Fetter Lane and The City of London’s Sustainability Policy Guidance had been
named as winners in the Best New Place to Work and Sustainable Planning
Award categories respectively, and Panorama St Paul’'s (81 Newgate Street) had
received a commendation in the Best Retrofit category. The Chair on behalf of
the Committee congratulated the officer team and Members expressed their
appreciation with a round of applause.

APOLOGIES

Apologies for Absence were received from Philip Kelvin, Antony Manchester,
Alderwoman Jennette Newman, Hugh Selka, Naresh Sonpar and David
Williams.

MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA

Deputy Tom Sleigh (Chair), Gaby Robertshaw and Jacqui Webster each
declared an interest in agenda item 7 (Infrastructure Funding Statement —
Community infrastructure Levy (CIL) / Section 106).

During consideration of the item, Deputy Sleigh vacated the Chair in favour of
the Deputy Chair, Shravan Joshi, and left the Livery Hall. Gaby Robertshaw
and Jacqui Webster remained present but took no part in the debate or
decision-making on the report.

MINUTES

3a The public minutes of the meeting held on 8 July 2025 were approved as
an accurate record.

Clerk’s Note: following the meeting, an incorrect version of the minutes
document was found to have been included with the agenda. The
minutes of the 8 July meeting therefore remain unapproved and will be
resubmitted to a future meeting of the Committee.

3b The public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 9
September 2025 were approved as an accurate record.

CITY PLAN MAIN AND ADDITIONAL MODIFICATIONS

The Committee considered a report by the Executive Director Environment
seeking approval to conduct a six-week consultation period on the Main and
Additional Modifications in the City Plan, the Sustainability Review and the
changes to the Policies Map, as set out in Appendices 1-4 of the report. The
Committee was also asked to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and

Page 8



Development, in liaison with the Chair and Deputy Chair of the Committee, to
provide a City Corporation response to the consultation responses received.

The report had also been considered by the Local Plans Sub-Committee on 9
October 2025.

A Member expressed thanks to the Officer Team for an excellent and extremely
detailed report and for the additional briefing sessions that had been held. It
was hoped that the City Plan would receive final approval approved too many
amendments.

Officers responded to Members’ questions, covering main points as set out
below:

e An explanation was provided as to the varying definitions of
infrastructure in Policies IN1 and IN2

e It was noted that external standards quoted in the Plan, such as Wst 05
and BREEAM, were expected to be in place for its entire duration.

e The Inspectors had removed the specific paragraph relating to Bevis
Marks Synagogue as in their view this may lead to confusion.

e The expectation would continue that the majority of tall buildings would
be located within the three existing clusters.

Members also identified various typographical errors which they undertook to
make known to officers.

RESOLVED: That Members -

1. Approve a six-week consultation period on the Main and Additional
Modifications to the City Plan, the Sustainability Appraisal Review and
the changes to the Policies May as set out | Appendices 1-4 of the
report.

2. Delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Development, in
liasison with the Chair and Deputy Chair of the Planning and
Transportation Committee, to provide a City Corporation response to the
consultation responses received.

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS (SPD) UPDATE

The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director Environment
providing an update on ongoing work to produce a series of new and updated
Supplementary Planning Documents to support the implementation of the City
Plan 2040. The proposed approach to engagement was explained and
authorisation sought to:

e seek a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Screening view from
the Environmental Bodies outlined in the relevant legislation; and

e conduct a ‘call for evidence’ on the SPDs.

Page 9



The following responses were provided to Members’ comments and questions:

e Officers confirmed that they were liaising with the colleagues working on
the Cultural Strategy with a view to understanding the crossover
between the SPDs and the wider corporate approach.

e The importance of linking with Ward Councillors and making effective
use of their direct contact with constituents was acknowledged.

e A Member asked how developers could be made aware of changes to
SPDs which may come into effect during the planning process. Officers
explained how the transition would be managed; firstly, by seeking to
involve developers, landowners and those promoting sites in the
development of the SPDs. Secondly, once the draft documents were in
the public domain, Officers would refer to them in their discussions with
developers during the planning process, with a view to guiding them to
shape their schemes in a way that reflected what the SPDs were aiming
to do. This could be shown to have an impact despite the limited weight
carried by draft documents.

e Officers agreed to share with Members the full programme of pre-
engagement exercises, programmed to begin in November 2025. They
also explained the process being used to engage with residents,
commenting on how they were keen to expand this further through the
development of new approaches to ensure that all groups were reached.

Commenting in her role as Lead Member for Resident Engagement, Jacqui
Webster commended officers’ commitment to reflecting the core focus of the
resident engagement strategy, which was about reaching those who may not
usually feel able to contribute. More intensive outreach was essential to ensure
that the lived experience of local communities was properly reflected.

RESOLVED: That Members -

1. Note the approach to Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs)
planning and engagement.

2. Approve the request for a Screening opinion on the SPDs with the three
Environmental Bodies.

3. Approve a public ‘Call for Evidence’ on the SPDs.

PLANNING ADVICE NOTE - HEAT NETWORK SUPPLY ZONES IN THE
THAMES POLICY AREA

The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director Environment
which presented a draft Planning Advice Note (PAN) setting out the policy
context for developing strategic heat supply in the Thames Policy Area,
indicated the potential and preferred options for the mooring of thermal barges
in the supply of heat in the short-term and highlighted the recent decision to
designate a strategic heat main as a nationally significant infrastructure project.

Page 10



Members were asked to endorse the draft PAN and approve the undertaking of
a consultation thereon.

The following information was provided in response to Members’ comments
and questions:

It was noted that the consultation process would follow the usual timescales
for planning guidance and advice notes, with a duration of six weeks,
including workshops and face-to-face discussions.

Specific details on the design of individual sites would be available later in
the process. The purpose of the PAN was to ensure that developers along
the riverfront was aware of the aim to deliver heat capacity to the City via
various means in future and was including the information in discussions
with relevant stakeholders.

Officers explained the reasons why, following a technical assessment Swan
Lane Pier had been selected as a preferred site. These included the
potential to host a heat store on that part of the Riverside, proximity to
Walbrook Whard (a potential future energy centre for storing and
discharging heat) and the need to avoid any potential conflict with the
existing Walbrook Wharf operation and other river-based operations and
operators. This information would be placed in the public domain for the
consultation, and respondents’ views were keenly sought.

Officers undertook to amend some minor amendments of detail concerning
discrepancies in the number of sites referred to in various locations within
the PAN.

Members emphasised the need to provide as much information as possible
about issues such as the design of the barges, in order to address any
apprehension that may exist regarding the proposals.

Officers undertook to investigate the rejection by a neighbouring council of a
planning application which included the installation of thermal barges, to
ascertain whether lessons could be learned for future applications. They
also agreed to ascertain whether there were examples of the use of thermal
barges in other cities in order to draw on their experience.

RESOLVED: That Members -

1. Endorse the draft Planning Advice Note on Heat Network Supply Zones
in the Thames Policy Area.

2. Approve the undertaking of a consultation on the Planning Advice Note.

Page 11



Deputy Shravan Joshi (Deputy Chair of the Committee) in the Chair

INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING STATEMENT - COMMUNITY
INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) / SECTION 106 (2024-25)

Deputy Tom Sleigh (Chair), Gaby Robertshaw and Jacqui Webster declared an
interest in this item — minute 2 above refers.

During consideration of the item, Deputy Sleigh vacated the Chair in favour of
the Deputy Chair (Deputy Shravan Joshi) and left the meeting. Gaby
Robertshaw and Jacqui Webster remained present but took no part in the
debate or decision-making on the report.

The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director Environment
which presented the City’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Section
106 (S106) planning obligations infrastructure funding statement at the end of
the financial year 2024/25. The report summarised the City’s CIL and S106
balances, allocation and spend at the end of the financial year and updated the
list of infrastructure projects or types of infrastructure the City would be wholly
or partly funding by CIL.

In presenting the report, Officers highlighted the significant amount of CIL
generated by development in the City, and the substantial contribution towards
essential infrastructure which this represented.

In response to a Member’s question, Officers undertook to work with colleagues
across the Corporation to produce additional information showing a breakdown
of funding over the longer term and how it had been used.

Commenting that the report demonstrated the critical nature of CIL funding for
the type of projects and schemes supported, a Member emphasised the need
to defend against requests for it to be used to support other of the Corporation’s
budget needs.

A Member expressed the view that greater transparency in explaining the uses
of CIL monies, including providing greater detail on the organisations receiving
funding, would be helpful, in a similar manner to presentation of a charity’s
annual report. It was noted that this information was already provided to the
main decision-making body, the Resources Allocation Sub-Committee, as well
as on the Corporation’s website (with real-time data updates) and duplication to
this Sub-Committee would therefore be unhelpful.

Acknowledging this, the Member proposed the creation of a more
comprehensive report, with information about the decision-making process, a
link to the webpage and maybe some examples of the neighbourhoods which
had received funding. The view was expressed that the existence and use of
these funds was positive news that should be celebrated.

Regarding decision-making on the allocation of CIL monies, Officers advised
that, in addition to the allocations agreed by the Resource Allocation Sub-

Page 12



Committee, there was also an officer panel which considered grants below the
value of £100,000 and made recommendations on grants above that amount.

In response to a Member’s question as to whether Wards in which residents
had experienced the greatest inconvenience from a development or series of
developments were prioritised for the allocation of CIL funds, it was noted that
the City had adopted a needs-based approach, rather than hypothecate to the
specific wards in which developments had taken place.

RESOLVED: That Members -

1. Note the content of the report and Infrastructure Funding Statement
(found in Appendix 1 to the report.

2. Approve the infrastructure list at paragraph 20 of the report, repeated at
section 4 of the Infrastructure Funding Statement, for publication on the
City ‘s website.

Deputy Tom Sleigh (Chair of the Committee) in the Chair

ALDGATE TO BLACKFRIARS CYCLEWAY

The Committee received a report of the Executive Director Environment on
progress regarding the Aldgate to Blackfriars Cycleway, part of the network of
core cycling routes in the City identified in the Transport Strategy.

The report had been considered by the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee
on 16 September, when Members had expressed concern at the safety of the
bus stop bypasses incorporated into the project design. The Sub-Committee
had agreed to pause the project pending the issue of new national guidance on
bus stop bypasses, expected early in 2026. In the light of this decision, officers
would submit a further report to the Sub-Committee seeking Members’ view as
to how to proceed.

Responses were provided to Members’ comments and questions as set out
below:

e Officers undertook to investigate the reasons for the delay in opening the
Bazalgette Embankment, confirming that there was no link with the
decision to pause the Cycleway project.

e It was noted that the Accessibility Review for the cycleway project had
been conducted on behalf of the Corporation by consultants whose
processes were informed by engagement with vulnerable groups.

e The Committee noted the expression of a personal view regarding the
potential for all pedestrians, with or without a specific vulnerability, to be
at risk from bus stop bypasses. The impact of poor cycling behaviour
was also highlighted.

The report was noted.

Page 13



10.

NAMING OF NEW HIGHWAY MAINTAINABLE AT PUBLIC EXPENSE:
GREYFRIARS SQUARE

The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director Environment
seeking approval to name as ‘Greyfriars Square’ the publicly accessible square
to the west of 81 Newgate Street.

RESOLVED:

That the name for the publicly accessible square to the west of 81
Newgate Street be approved as ‘Greyfriars Square’ and a statutory
notice issued.

ADVERTISING BOARD UPDATE

The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director Environment
which set out the current policy on Advertising Boards (A-Boards), agreed in
2020. The report had been considered on 16 September by the Streets and
Walkways Sub-Committee, which had been asked to review options regarding
future policy in the area and to make recommendations to this Committee.

The Committee was asked to consider the comments and recommendation of
the Sub-Committee (set out in the minutes of the meeting included as item 14
on the agenda for this meeting) and agree to proceed with one of the following
options.

Option 1: Continue with the current policy and begin engagement prior
to enforcement. (Recommended option.)

(Approval of this option would have the effect of confirming the City-wide
ban on A-Boards agreed by the Committee in 2020, of which
implementation had been deferred during the COVID 19 Pandemic.)

Option 2: Amend the A-Board policy to allow A-Boards for wayfinding
purposes by exception (via a Way-board licence or other licencing
criteria) and proceed to public consultation.

Views were expressed in favour of both options, with all speakers
acknowledging that the most important factor in the decision was the impact on
people in terms of accessibility and being able to move around the City
comfortably.

Those not in favour of an A-Board ban referred to the following factors:

e Concerns at the impact of a ban on visitors, businesses and other
organisations such as churches. The current difficult trading conditions
facing small businesses were highlighted, as were the effectiveness of A-
Boards as a traditional form of advertising.

e The potential disconnect between a proposed ban, commitments to small
businesses included within the SME strategy and outcomes sought as part
of the Destination City programme.

Page 14



The brutal effect of an outright ban compared with the more flexible
approach of Option 2, and the risk of attracting a backlash from businesses
and organisations affected. Approval of Option 2 would demonstrate the
Corporation’s appreciation for small businesses and their contribution to the
life and culture of the City.

Regarding this latter, it was noted that members of the Streets and
Walkways Sub-Committee had indicated some support for a revised version
of Option 1, which would have allowed an exception to the ban for
pedestrianised and timed closure streets. However, a proposed
amendment to this effect had not received the support of the meeting.

The potential impact which an inflexible policy could have on the vibrancy in
the City which was a legacy of the opening up of outdoor spaces and
restaurant seating areas during COVID.

Issues mentioned by those expressing support for the proposed A-Board ban
included the following:

The ease of a simple, consistent policy applicable to all, with a gentle
approach to enforcement of the ban and the provision of assistance to
businesses regarding alternative means of advertising. Examples of good
practice in this respect were present in neighbouring authorities.

The importance of giving pavements back to people. Evidence showed that
the City’s streets were now as busy as they had been before the Pandemic
and issues of pedestrian access and inclusion needed to be the main
priority in determining the way forward.

The increased work and likely challenges for Officers of identifying locations
which were suitable or not for A-Boards.

The importance of trusting that the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee
had been thorough in their debate and assessment of the most appropriate
option.

In the light of the support expressed by some Members for a more flexible
approach to A-Boards rather than a complete ban, a Member proposed that the
Committee consider an amended version of Option 1, as put to the Streets and
Walkways Sub-Committee at its September meeting.

The unamended Motion would read:

“That Members:

1. Note the comments of the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee and its
recommended support for Option 1.

2. Agree to proceed with one of the following:

Option 1: Continue with the current policy and begin engagement prior
to enforcement.

Page 15



Option 2. Amend the A-board policy to allow A-boards for wayfinding
purposes be exception (via a Way-board licence or other licencing
criteria).”

It was moved by Charles Edward Lord, seconded by John Edwards, that the
text of Option 1 be amended to read as follows:

‘To continue with the current policy, save for pedestrianised and timed-
closure streets, and begin engagement prior to enforcement.’

The amendment was put to the meeting, with votes cast as follows:
In favour: 4

Against: 10

There were no abstentions.

The amendment was declared to be LOST.

The Chair invited Members to vote on the original Motion as set out below:

“That Members-

1. Note the comments of the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee and its
recommended support for Option 1.

2. Agree to proceed with one of the following:

Option 1: Continue with the current policy and begin engagement prior
to enforcement.

Option 2: Amend the A-board policy to allow A-boards for wayfinding
purposes be exception (via a Way-board licence or other licencing
criteria).”

The Motion was put to the meeting, with votes cast as follows:

Option1: 5

Option 2: 11

There were no abstentions.

The Motion was therefore CARRIED with support for Option 2, and it was

RESOLVED: That Members-

1. Note the comments of the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee and its
recommended support for Option 1.

2. Support Option 2 as the future policy approach to A-Boards, as set out
below:

Page 16



11.

12.

13.

‘Amend the A-Board policy to allow A-Boards for wayfinding purposes by
exception (via a Way-board licence or other licencing criteria) and
proceed to public consultation.

PIPE SUBWAYS OF HOLBORN VIADUCT AND SNOW HILL OVER
THAMESLINK

The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director Environment
which provided an update on the project to carry out works on existing pipe
subway structures of Holborn Viaduct and Snow Hill over Holborn Viaduct.
Approval was sought to progress according to the recommended option set out
in paragraph 5.2 of the report.

RESOLVED: That-

1. An additional budget of £196,000 be approved for Gateway 4 to allow for
analytical work to be carried out.

2. The total estimated cost of the project of £2,862,000 (excluding risk), up
from £2,666,000 reported in September 2019, be noted

3. A Costed Risk Provision (CRP) of £135,000 be approved (to be drawn
down via delegation to Paul Monaghan, Assistant Director Engineering).

4. The recommended option set out in paragraph 5.2 of the report be
agreed.

LEGIBLE LONDON SECTION 106 FUNDS

The Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Environment
regarding the ongoing project to update the City of London’s existing Legible
London wayfinding signage. Approval was sought to allocate the ring-fenced
S106 funds secured for this purpose to make these updates, which would
include the installation of step-free diversion signage at City-managed public
lifts.

RESOLVED: That Members-

1. Approve the allocation of £245,000 in S106 Legible London deposits to a
project to update the City Corporation’s Legible London signage.

2. Note that the City Corporation will be entering into a contract with
Trueform, the supplier of Legible London signage, via a call-off process
under the Transport for London framework agreement.

QUARTERLY PUBLIC LIFT AND ESCALATOR REPORT - 1 JULY TO 30
SEPTEMBER 2025

The Committee received a report of the City Surveyor outlining the availability
and performance of publicly accessible lifts and escalators monitored and
maintained by City Surveyor’s in the reporting period 1 July to 30 September
2025.

Page 17



14.

The Committee noted that, during the reporting period, publicly accessible lifts
and escalators had been available for 86% of the time.

The report was noted.

STREETS AND WALKWAYS SUB-COMMITTEE DRAFT MINUTES
The minutes of the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee meeting held on 16
September 2025 were presented for information.

Referring to minute 7 (Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme — Old Jewry), a
Member commented on the debate which had taken place at the Sub-
Committee, particularly around the involvement of relevant Ward Members in
the consultation on the proposal, and advice provided by Officers regarding the
response to the consultation of the Mercers Company, a major landowner in the
area, which did not appear to be straightforward. Since the meeting, it had
become clear that the Company had grave concerns about the closure of Old
Jewry. In the light of these two issues, the Member requested that the matter
be referred back to the Sub-Committee for reconsideration once further
consultation had been undertaken specifically with relevant Ward Members and
major property owners and occupiers in Old Jewry.

Members expressed views both in support of and against the proposed referral
back to the Sub-Committee. The Chair commented that in general he was
reluctant for such action to be taken. However, on this occasion, given that
some questions had come to light late in the process, he would request the
Chair of the Sub-Committee to review the issue at the next meeting once
further consultation had occurred, noting the potential for the original decision
to remain unchanged.

The Chair of the Sub-Committee accepted the suggestion, proposing also that,
prior to the December meeting, he and the Deputy Chairman meet with
representatives of the Mercers Company to discuss this issue and another
which the Company had raised. This was agreed with the proviso that the
meeting include officer representation in order to assure the continued delivery
of an officer-led consultation process incorporating fair and equitable treatment
for all stakeholders.

Officers commented on the situation that had arisen, stating that, although the
consultation process had been wide-ranging and lengthy, the receipt of
additional responses at a late stage meant that a further review was sensible.
An undertaking was given to review the consultation process to ensure it was
sufficiently thorough.

Responding to a Members’ challenge, the Member who had raised the original
concern about the consultation process placed on record that, in suggesting
that Officers’ response to the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee
concerning the Mercers’ Company’s view of the proposed scheme had not
been straightforward, he had not in any way meant to imply any disrespect or
that this had been intentional.

Page 18



15.

16.

17.

RESOLVED: - That

1. The minutes of the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee held on 16
September 2025 be noted.

2. That the proposals and decision set out in Minute 7 (Pedestrian Priority
Streets Programme — Old Jewry) be referred back to the Sub-Committee
for review once further consultation had been undertaken specifically
with relevant Ward Members and the major property owners and
occupiers in Old Jewry.

QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE
COMMITTEE
Two questions were asked, and responses given, as set out below:

Obstruction caused by Dockless Bikes — Referring to the Committee’s
earlier discussion on pavement obstruction caused by A-Boards, a Member
highlighted more serious obstruction issues linked to the careless parking of
dockless bikes and asked what further action could be taken.

Officers clarified the Corporation’s policy on dockless bikes, which was that
they should be left only in designated parking bays in order to avoid causing an
obstruction. Where this did not occur, users were issued a warning or a fine by
the operator as a means of encouraging appropriate parking behaviour. When
spotted by Corporation staff, incorrectly parked bikes were reported directly to
the operators for removal. Further information concerning dockless bikes could
be found within reports to the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee as the
issue fell within its terms of reference.

Date of Next Planning Applications Sub-Committee — Concern was
expressed that the next meeting of the Planning Applications Sub-Committee
on the morning of 11 November would clash with Members’ commitments to
observe Remembrance Day in their Wards. Following consideration of various
means of resolution, it was agreed that the meeting should proceed with an
earlier start time of 9.30 and adjourn shortly before 11am if necessary.

Secretary’s Note — the meeting was subsequently cancelled due to a lack of
business.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT
There was no urgent business.

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVED - that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government 1972, the
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined
in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act

Page 19



18. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES
The non-public minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2025 were
approved.

19. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF
THE COMMITTEE
There were no questions.

20. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED

The Chair, supported by the Committee, agreed to consideration of the
following item of urgent, non-public business due to a need to update Members
on a developing situation.

Bury House 1 - 4, 31 - 34 Bury Street London EC3A 5AR
The Committee noted a report of the Executive Director Environment.

The meeting closed at 12.30 pm

Chairman

Contact Officer: Judith Dignum
judith.dignum@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 20



Agenda Item 4

Committee(s):

Dated:

Planning and Transportation Committee — for decision

2nd December 2025

Subject:
Review of the Carbon Options Guidance Planning Advice
Note

Public report:
For decision

This proposal:
e delivers Corporate Plan 2024-29 outcomes

Leading sustainable
environment

Chamberlain’s Department?

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or No
capital spending?

If so, how much? n/a
What is the source of Funding? n/a
Has this Funding Source been agreed with the n/a

Report of:

Katie Stewart, Executive
Director, Environment

Report author:

Kerstin Kane, Environment
Department

Summary

This report provides details of the review of the Carbon Options Guidance
Planning Advice Note (COG PAN), adopted in March 2023, and seeks
agreement from the Planning and Transportation Committee to adopt the
revised COG PAN and the associated Carbon Options Tools spreadsheet.

Feedback from users of the COG PAN and various changes to related tools and
policies have triggered a number of minor amendments to the guidance. These
include clarifications relating to wider policy alignment, the type of application
proposals that should undertake optioneering, the optioneering methodology as
well as to further detailed guidance for the third-party review of the Carbon

Options Study.

Page 21




Recommendation

Members are asked to:

e Agree the adoption of the revised Carbon Options Guidance Planning Advice
Note Version 02 (Appendix 1) and the Carbon Options Tool Spreadsheet
Version 02 (Appendix 2).

Main Report
Background

1. On 7 March 2023, the Planning and Transportation Committee approved the
Carbon Options Guidance Planning Advice Note (COG PAN) for adoption.
The COG PAN was (and remains) a ground-breaking document, setting out
an innovative methodology for estimating and comparing the whole life-cycle
carbon emissions of multiple development options for a given site.

2. The underlying methodology of the COG PAN is based on carbon calculation
methods and carbon assumptions used at that time to estimate whole life-
cycle carbon emissions of a construction proposal. In addition, the 2023 COG
PAN lists considerations for best practice outcomes from development and
includes guidance for third-party reviewers of Carbon Options Studies.

3. Since the adoption of the COG PAN, there have been a number of changes to
policies and regulations, including modifications to the City Plan 2040 and the
adoption of the Planning for Sustainability Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD), which need to be reflected in the COG PAN as a factual update.
Through the practice of the City Corporation’s Sustainability Team and taking
feedback from sustainability consultants and applicants, some areas where
additional clarity would assist the optioneering process have also come to
light, which are set out in more detail below.

4. A summary of the changes and the revised COG have been sent to the City
Property Association (CPA) as representative of applicants in the City of
London; a few clarifications have been suggested and these are reflected
where appropriate in the updated COG. This is in line with the City
Corporation’s Statement of Community Involvment, which states that
consultation on PANs will vary according to the nature and content of the
PAN. Due to the technical and minor nature of the changes to the COG PAN,
public consultation on these changes isn't considered necessary.

Proposed modifications
5. The changes in the individual chapters are summarised below.

6. Chapter 1: Carbon in Planning policy — includes updates relating to the
emerging City Plan 2040 and the adoption of the ‘Planning for Sustainability

Page 22



SPD’, and sets out how the COG supports these overarching policy and
guidance documents.

7. Chapter 2: Whole life-cycle carbon assessments for pre-application
optioneering and planning applications — clarifies the COG methodology and
building elemental scope required for optioneering studies compared to WLC
assessments conducted for major and non-major planning applications in the
City of London, and in relation to other methodologies.

8. Chapter 3: Introduction to carbon optioneering — clarifies:

e which planning application proposals should undertake optioneering.
All major application schemes and non-major developments should
carry out carbon optioneering if they do not propose to retain at least
50% (by area) of an existing building. The ‘50% retention value’ has
been updated from ‘mass’ (in the COG 2023) to ‘by area’ (in the COG
update). This metric aligns with the Westminster definition of retrofit
and is considered a simpler metric to calculate at early stages of
concept design.

e Which planning application proposals could be exempt from
optioneering. A retrofit scheme might not be subject to optioneering if it
can clearly demonstrate it would ensure the lowest level of intervention
needed to achieve a sustainable development. Minimum criteria for
exemption include (1) full retention and use of existing substructure,
and (2) major reuse of existing superstructure (80% of floor area, or
higher). In most cases, optioneering would not produce valuable
insights for realistic, lower carbon options on the site.

9. Chapter 6: Carbon optioneering methodology at pre-app stage — various
clarifications relate to:

e minimum information requirements about the existing building

e scoping of options

e achieving a consistent approach to the carbon calculations across the
options and

e reporting requirements where there are multiple buildings on a site.

10.Chapter 7: Third-party review — adds a reference to the ‘Third-party review
governance’ document and related spreadsheet ‘Third-party review
framework’ prepared by the consultancy Arup for the City Corporation. This
technical framework is designed to improve the standardisation, consistency
and transparency of third-party reviews of whole life-cycle carbon
assessments. The framework can be used for Carbon Option Study reviews
and for planning application reviews. The assessment guidance for reviewers
and the actions expected by the applicant team have been added to this
chapter.

11.Chapter 8: The consideration of options in the planning application process —
provides further context on the relationship between GLA pre-redevelopment
Audits and City Corporation Carbon Options Studies. The chapter reiterates

Page 23



the WLC assessment reporting requirements from application stage onwards,
echoing the requirements set out in the Planning for Sustainability SPD.

12.In addition, further guidance is provided in cases where application schemes
are ‘substantially different’ from all assessed options (a definition of
‘substantially different’ is provided). Applicants submitting planning proposals
‘substantially different’ from all options presented will be required to produce
and submit an addendum to the Carbon Options Study previously submitted
to explain and justify deviations.

13.The Carbon Options Tool (excel reporting template for the options) has been
updated to reflect the changes in the COG PAN, to provide more helpful
contextual detail and clearly defined outputs.

Corporate & Strategic Implications

Strategic implications- The COG PAN supports the delivery of the achievement
of a net zero climate resilient Square Mile by 2040, which is a key pillar of the
Carbon Action Strategy and the ‘leading sustainable environment’ aim of the
Corporate Plan.

Financial implications- There are no financial implications arising from this
report.

Resource implications - There are no further resource implications arising from
this report.

Equalities implications- The COG PAN will be published in an accessible
format, in line with the requirements for publication of Corporation documents.

Climate implications- The publication of this revised Planning Advice Note will
contribute towards meeting the objectives of the Climate Action Strategy and
ensure that as relevant applications come forward, the whole life-cycle carbon
implications of the development they propose is considered in an up-to-date
format as part of the application process.

Legal implications -There are no legal implications arising from this report.
Risk implications - There are no additional new risks arising from this report.

Security implications - There are no security implications arising from this
report.

Conclusion

14.Carbon optioneering has been carried out for relevant applications using the
methodology of the COG PAN since 2023. The methodology has contributed
to providing meaningful information for the development of building proposals
and planning applications. Policies, technical insights and methodologies for
reporting whole life-cycle carbon emissions have developed and changed

Page 24



over the years. Valuable feedback from users of the optioneering
methodology was evaluated. The COG PAN has been updated to respond to
this feedback and clarifications were added so that it remains a robust, clear
and practical planning guidance. Adopting this revised document will help to
reach our goal of achieving a net zero and climate resilient Square Mile by
2040.

Appendices

e Appendix 1 — Carbon Options Guidance Planning Advice Note (version 2)

e Appendix 2 — Carbon Options Tool

Report author

Kerstin Kane, Principal Sustainability Officer — Policy and Strategy, Environment
Department

E: kerstin.kane@cityoflondon.gov.uk
T: 07598 404355

Page 25


mailto:kerstin.kane@cityoflondon.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



Carbon Options Guidance

-i|:||!-;:|jil.I.élé.i;lllll.;l-‘.. ) :
f%?-'_f:-'?{*?w Y

Hit
3 4 Hilson
et H

c"i:ﬁ Moran

LONDON




g¢ obed

Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMIMAIY wovvviiviiisisssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss8818 8888888888888 3
1. Carbon in regulations and planning PONCY cmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmms—————————_—__ - - - - ———————.———  — —  — . — "' ————. 6
2.  Whole life-cycle carbon assessments for pre-application optioneering and planning applications ... 9
3. INtrodUCTION O CArbON OPTIONEEIING im0 11
4, OPtiONEEIING CONSIAEIATIONS wuuuiiissssssmsiisssssssssssissssssssssssssssss 1881811881110 12
5. Other POlICY OPPOITUNITIES ouirrrssssssssssssssssssssssmsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss s s sssssssssssssssss R 14
6. Carbon optioneering MEthOAOIOGY ..vuuwmmmmmmmmmmmmssssssssssm————————————————— " —" ‘———————————————— 15
7. THIFA=PAITY FEVIEW wuutiiiervsssssssmmmmmsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss s 48 s8ssssss 4448188810 17
8. The consideration of options in the planning application ProCESS .mm————————————————————, 20
Appendix 1 Related reporting rEQUITEMENTS .m0 22
Appendix 2 GLA WLC Assessment pre-application WLC reduction prinCiPIES ... 29
GlOSSAIY wuuuussisesesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss 4414888888888 31

Carbon Options Guidance

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation




62 abed

Executive summary

The built environment and its role
in tackling climate change

Human activities which result in the release of greenhouse gases,
including carbon dioxide (CO,), are estimated to have caused
1.3-1.4°C of global heating above pre-industrial levels. Each of the
last three decades have been hotter than the previous one and

the last 10 years (2015-2024) were the warmest 10 years on record.

As a result, there has already been ocean warming, sea level rise,
increased likelihoods of extreme weather events and melting of
sea ice, glaciers and permafrost. This has direct and devastating
impacts on society, including land loss, increased severity and
occurrence of wildfires, drought, and difficulties producing food.

Alongside this, there have been unprecedented declines in global
biodiversity, with the average abundance of native species in most
major land-based habitats falling by at least 20%, mostly since
1900. The quality of habitats which support this biodiversity has also
declined, with a 30% reduction in global terrestrial habitat integrity

caused by habitat loss, fragmentation and deterioration’ (CIEEM, 2019).

Across the 753 terrestrial and freshwater species studied, the UK has
experienced an average 19% decrease since 1970. The distributions
of 54% of flowering plant species and 59% of bryophytes (mosses
and liverworts) have decreased across Great Britain (State of Nature
Report, 2023)

Global emissions need to decrease by 43% by the end of this decade
and reach Net Zero by 2050 (the total amount of greenhouse gases
released into the atmosphere being equal to the amount removed)

to stay under the preferable 1.5°C global warming target set as part
of the Paris Agreement (2015). This is the current recommended
threshold to avoid unprecedented heatwaves, terrifying storms,
flooding and widespread water shortages (Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change IPCC, 2022). In the UK by 2070, UK winters are
projected to be between 0.6 and 3.8°C warmer and between 3 to
39% wetter depending on the region, compared to our climate in
1990. UK summers are projected to be between 1.3 and 5.1°C warmer,
depending on the region (Climate change explained, DESNZ 2025).

The built environment contributes 25% of UK greenhouse gas
emissions (CO,e) that it has direct control over. If emissions influenced
by the built environment are included (surface transport vehicle
emissions) the built environment contributes around 42% of the

UK's total greenhouse gas emissions, MtCO,e. (Net Nero Whole Life
Carbon Roadmap, UKGBC, 2021).

The property and construction industry has a moral duty to act and
reduce the environmental impacts of this sector as well as mitigate the
effects of climate change.

City of London Corporation
Climate Action Strategy

The City of London is a major global commerce centre with huge
influence and opportunity to lead the net zero carbon and climate
change mitigation and adaptation agenda.

The City of London Corporation (City Corporation) has adopted a
radical Climate Action Strategy (CAS) in 2020 which breaks new
ground and sets out how the organisation will achieve net zero, build
climate resilience and champion sustainable growth, both in the UK
and globally, over the next two decades. By adopting the strategy, the
City Corporation has committed to:

= Achieve net zero carbon emissions from its own operations by
2027.

= Achieve net zero carbon emissions across its investments and
supply chain by 2040.

= Support the achievement of net zero for the Square Mile by
2040.

= Invest £68m over the next six years to support these goals
of which £15m is dedicated to preparing the Square Mile for
extreme weather events.

The City Corporation has set out a fully funded action plan for
2020-2027 which includes annual targets against a decarbonisation
pathway. Further information on the CAS including a link to our annual
reporting dashboard can be found on the Climate Action Strategy
page of the City Corporation website.

Scope of this guidance

The Carbon Options Guidance provides a clear and consistent
approach to carbon optioneering for development sites. The
optioneering methodology is a first step of carbon evaluation,
designed to enable a consistent, early-stage approach to assessing
realistic development options.

The carbon optioneering methodology is a means of comparing a
representative number of development options, in order to find the
optimum balance in carbon emissions terms, prior to evaluating other
environmental and planning considerations.

R e L
T o, i

o
-
i
]

ey

Carbon Options Guidance

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation




This is considered to be one of the first steps in the City Corporation’s pursuit to achieve
outstanding, best in class buildings that contribute to an attractive and vibrant City
environment.

This approach is recommended to aid the review and decision-making process through the
submission of more in-depth information that demonstrates how applicants have come to a
development decision. This process can be relevant to various application types, that have a
significant proportion of new build elements.

The assessment will contribute to the justification for the application proposal and help with
achieving a successful outcome.

This document sets out the recommended approach to carbon optioneering and is
accompanied by a ‘Carbon Options Tool' (Excel template). This tool contains the minimum
reporting requirements expected for all schemes and should be submitted to the City
Corporation (in Excel format), accompanying a summary Carbon Options Study which
should explain and clearly present the outcome of the optioneering to any interested parties
scrutinising application proposals (third-party reviewer, public, councillors). The Carbon
Options Tool enables applicants to provide the required information at pre-application stage.

Once completed, it is advised that applicants complete the full Whole Life-Cycle Carbon
(WLC) Assessment for the planning application scheme, in line with the London Plan
Guidance (LPG) ‘Whole Life-Cycle Carbon Assessments (GLA, March 2022)' or, where
updated, in line with the guidance in force at the time of application.

Strategic Con- Post- In-use  End-

Concept

design phase desan piEse Technical design phase  struction completion phase  of-life

phase  Phase phase

Figure 1: Carbon influence vs Assessment Accuracy from RICS WLC assessments - 2nd edition

Carbon Options Guidance

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation



T¢ obed

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation 5

Update from the previous version
of the Carbon Options Guidance

Planning applications under consideration in 2021 and 2022 reported
carbon option studies and WLC Assessments in various and
inconsistent ways. The range of different approaches posed significant
risks in assessing, evaluating and comparing proposals, making it
difficult for City Corporation planning officers to report key results and
conclusions to members and stakeholders for decision making.

The first version of the Carbon Options Guidance (COG) was
published in March 2023, with the purpose of providing a consistent
framework for early-stage carbon optioneering and to advise on:

The merits of a WLC emission options study as part of the
pre-application process to ensure that development proposals
maximise retention of the existing building structures and fabrics,
thus minimising demolition waste and reducing carbon emissions
from the earliest project stages.

The scope and methodology of comparative WLC emission
options for development proposals at the earliest project stage.

Ensuring like for like comparison, enabling consistency of reporting
of carbon emissions and the evaluation of pre-application schemes
as a substantive basis for the planning application scheme.

How to inform decision-making through a thorough assessment
of redevelopment options and by encouraging a retrofit first
approach, to ensure carbon emissions are considered from an
early stage with the aim of reducing overall impacts in the City of
London.

Third Party review to ensure consistency and provide technical
reviews for the City Corporation and give assurance to committee
members.

In the past two years, since first publication, optioneering has

been carried out as part of many planning applications in the City,
informing decisions around the anticipated carbon impacts, the
extent of demolition and retention of the existing building stock, and
consideration of other aspects of environmental, social and economic
sustainability of development options.

The vast majority of the major applications approved by the City
Corporation during 2024 (15 out of 16) have undertaken an appraisal
of different development options in collaboration with and during early
conversations with planning and sustainability officers during the pre-
application process. This helped identify opportunities for retaining
existing buildings and/or parts of the existing buildings. In fact, 14 out

of 16 approved applications have retained substantial parts of their
structure with significant carbon savings compared to alternative new
build scenarios.

The current revision of the COG has been prepared by Hilson Moran
in collaboration with the City Corporation sustainability officers,

with contributions and constructive feedback gathered from private
developers and industry experts with relevant planning experience
in the Square Mile, including carbon assessors, sustainability
consultants, structural engineers and planning consultants.

This revision of the Carbon Options Guidance:

Defines more clearly which planning applications are expected to
include a Carbon Options Study - in line with the requirements
provided in Chapter 3.

Provides further clarifications on the scope, methodology and
reporting requirements for the Carbon Options Study submitted
by the applicants during the pre-application process (Chapters

2 and 6). There is an expectation that applicants use developed
knowledge obtained since the original COG was issued in 2023,
from detailed WLC calculations / benchmarking performance to
improved early-stage estimations, and prevent underestimation of
carbon impacts.

Provides additional guidance for third-party reviewers to enable
greater consistency in the review process and ensure that all
applications are subject to the same level of scrutiny (Chapter 7).

Clarifies the City Corporation’s expectations with regard to
embodied carbon benchmarks and ‘wider environmental
sustainability benefits' (Chapter 8), in line with the Planning for
Sustainability Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), adopted
February 2025. Additionally, the relation between a carbon
options study developed in compliance with this guidance and
pre-redevelopment audits, as defined in the current London Plan
Guidance (LPG) ‘Circular Economy Statements' (GLA, March
2022) is set out in Chapter 8.

-

a
i
II_

o
L o e B A

o




Z2€ abed

1. Carbon in regulations
and planning policy

This chapter outlines how carbon emission quantifications and
reductions are required to be reported for planning applications in the
Square Mile.

Since the first issue of the COG (March 2023) there have been a
number of changes to overarching policy in the UK as well as to local
planning policies / requirements on carbon reductions. Currently,
however, there is no specific national policy in relation to carbon
optioneering or embodied carbon reduction.

The EU have recently announced a timeline and plans mandating
embodied carbon reporting from 2028 under the Energy Performance
of Buildings Directive (EPBD). In December 2025 the Commission
shall adopt a delegated act setting out a Union framework for the
national calculation of life-cycle Global Warming Potential (GWP).
Member states will be required to publish a road map and introduce
limits. From 2028 all buildings above 1,000 m? will be required to
disclose their life-cycle GWP. From 2030 this will encompass all new
buildings.

In the UK, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF - 2024
December update) explicitly addresses climate change in section 161
onwards. The NPPF includes a requirement for the planning system

to 'support the transition to net zero by 2050'. Paragraph 163 of the
NPPF states: ‘the need to mitigate and adapt to climate change should
also be considered in preparing and assessing planning applications,
taking into account the full range of potential climate change impacts.
This involves taking full account of operational and embodied carbon
impacts.

The National Model Design Code (Ministry of Housing, Communities
and Local Government, 2021) sets out clear design parameters to
help local authorities and communities decide what good quality
design looks like in their area. Part 2, R.2.i Embodied Energy states

a preference for reuse/ refurbishment of buildings over new build
development as part of the high-level guidance to reduce embodied
carbon.

Development proposals are generally required by the GLA and City
Corporation to report both:

Embodied carbon emissions, i.e. carbon emissions resulting from
materials, construction and the maintenance of a building’s life-
cycle, and

Operational carbon emissions, from energy consumption

throughout the life-cycle of the building.

However, the scope of reporting in applications is determined by
several factors relating to the type of application, the size of the
building and the scope of the intervention proposed.

There are a number of policy and guidance documents that determine
reporting requirements:

Building regulations

At a National Level, in England, Approved Documents Part L
Conservation of fuel and power, Volume 1: Dwellings and Part L
Conservation of fuel and power, Volume 2: Buildings other than
dwellings 2021 editions incorporating 2023 amendments, set out
energy efficiency requirements. These regulate some elements of
design and specification of buildings that affect energy consumption,
including insulation, solar control, the efficiency of building services
and renewable energy generation. Part L sets minimum requirements
and targets for carbon emissions and defines the carbon intensity of
fuel and power. The Part L 2021 update tightens target requirements
and introduces a minimum Primary Energy metric to place more
emphasis on reducing energy demand and on site renewable energy
generation.

‘Unregulated emissions' refer to the elements of energy use that sit
outside Part L and includes carbon emissions from plug-in equipment
and cooking.

Embodied carbon emissions are not regulated at a national level.

A bill was proposed in Parliament in February 2022 to change this
based on a proposed Part Z, developed by industry experts. Whilst
Part Z has been widely supported by industry, at the bill's second
reading the Government declined to support it. However, the UK
Government have committed to undertake consultations on embodied
carbon in 2023 and 2024 (Environmental Audit committee - Building
to net zero: costing carbon in construction: Government Response
to the Committee's First Report, third special report of session 2022-
2023, September 2022). Some initial consultations and surveys were
undertaken, however, there has been no update on outcomes or any
updated reports issued since the COG was first issued.

In 2023, the UK Government set out a project to evaluate the
‘Measurement and Reduction of Embodied Carbon in New

Buildings'. A report prepared by AECOM for The Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) was published in July
2025, ‘'The practical, technical and economic impacts of measuring
and reducing embodied carbon in new buildings'. The report presents
the findings of the research and provides recommendations to
Government. This is available from the MHCLG website.

Carbon Options G

Greater London Authority (GLA) policy

The Mayor of London’s London Plan 2021 requires proposals referable
to the GLA to be net zero carbon.

The London Plan Policy Sl 2 sets out requirements for major
developments to minimise carbon emissions. Part F of Policy SI 2
requires referable development proposals to calculate WLC emissions
through a nationally recognised WLC Assessment and demonstrate
actions taken to reduce life- cycle carbon emissions.

LPG ‘Whole Life-Cycle Carbon Assessments Guidance’' (GLA, March
2022) sets out the reporting requirements and the scope of the

WLC Assessment. The GLA methodology uses RICS Professional
Statement: Whole Life Carbon Assessment for the Built Environment,
1st edition (November 2017) and sets out some requirements that go
beyond the 2017 RICS scope in Box 1 of the GLA guidance.

WLC Assessment reporting is required at pre-application, application
and post- completion stages of schemes that are referable to the GLA,
but it is also encouraged for all major developments. All studies account
for a 60-year life-cycle period, as standard. Provisions for a different
assessment period can be established if accompanying explanations
are provided.

The guidance document is recognised as industry-leading. It contains
a detailed methodology and list of information to be included for
materials across a number of Life-Cycle Assessment (LCA) modules
(Table 1) as well as including requirements for reporting emissions for
demolition of existing assets on site and from refrigerants.

The London Plan sets out a clear energy hierarchy for net zero
operational carbon emissions. It defines the process required for
reducing these emissions, clarifying local priorities for heating and
cooling strategies, setting minimum target savings and local carbon
offsetting mechanisms. The carbon savings targets are based on
regulated operational carbon and a 30-year life-cycle. Reporting
unregulated carbon is encouraged through the design process and
building infrastructure provision. Other policy requirements are in
place for on-site energy generation and energy storage.

LPG ‘Energy Assessment Guidance’ (GLA, June 2022) outlines reporting
requirements for planning applications to demonstrate that the
proposed climate change mitigation measures comply with London
Plan energy policies, including the energy hierarchy and energy
performance metrics in terms of Energy Use Intensity (EUI) for
regulated emissions. It introduces a new ‘be seen’ stage to calculate

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation 6



e¢ abed

whole building EUI (including unregulated emission), to monitor and
report its energy performance post-construction. This will help to
ensure that the actual carbon performance of the development is
aligned with the Mayor's net zero carbon target.

LPG 'Be Seen Energy Monitoring Guidance' (GLA, September

2021) explains the process that needs to be followed and reporting
requirements to demonstrate compliance with the London Plan

policy addressing the monitoring, verifying and reporting of energy
performance after a building's practical completion (‘Be Seen'’ level

of the Energy Hierarchy). It requires analysis for regulated and
unregulated energy loads using a process such as TM54 which is
aligned with the LPG for WLC Assessments module B6 approach, but
does not account for decarbonisation of the grid.

A London Plan update is expected in 2027, and the review of WLC
Assessment and Circular Economy Statement guidance is underway.

Other planning policies

Across the UK there are other policies that have detailed or high-
level requirements for a retrofit first and /or a whole life-cycle carbon
approach to developments.

Manchester is setting out the evidence basis for a retrofit first policy,
and a number of other cities have climate plans to reduce carbon and
prioritise retrofit, such as Bristol, and Leeds. A number of boroughs in
London have set out similar approaches such as the London Borough
of Camden, London Borough of Lambeth, London Borough of
Hackney, London Borough of Southwark and the City of Westminster
in their emerging plans and their associated guidance documents. All
have different requirements and levels of details, with similar principles
of supporting retrofit.

City of London Corporation policy

The City Corporation’s Local Plan (2015) aligned with the London
Plan at the time of its adoption. The London Plan has subsequently
been updated (2021). The adopted Local Plan focusses on reducing
operational ‘regulated’ carbon emissions resulting from energy used
in operation, low and zero carbon technologies for on-site and local
energy generation (including existing and planned District Energy
Networks), local and national carbon offsetting mechanisms. Carbon
offsets are required for a 30-year period of operation but there is no
specific mention of unregulated carbon and embodied carbon (WLC
Assessment) in this policy document. However, Policy CS 15 requires
all redevelopment proposals to demonstrate the highest feasible and
viable sustainability standards in the design, construction, operation
and “end of life” phases of development. It does further state that

development should ‘avoid demolition through the reuse of existing
building or their main structures'.

Emerging City Plan 2040

The emerging City Plan 2040, once adopted, will replace the Local
Plan 2015. The City Plan 2040 sets out the strategic priorities, spatial
strategy and policies to provide a framework for future development in
the Square Mile.

Key sustainability policies are set out in Chapter 9: Design. Policies
S8 and DE1 require development proposals to take a 'retrofit first’
approach, prioritising the retention and retrofit of existing buildings,
as informed by an appraisal of development options. The retrofit and
retention of existing buildings and structures (where feasible) is a key
focus to reduce embodied carbon emissions and demolition waste.
The Carbon Options Guidance provides the methodology for the
implementation of the Retrofit First policy.

Policies S8 and DE1 require all developments to minimise WLC
emissions and major applications must submit a WLC Assessment

in line with GLA Guidance. The policies cover overarching principles
circular economy principles and design approaches, improved
environmental performance, and the delivery of exemplary low carbon
development,

Climate Resilience is covered in Strategic Policy S15, which sets out
the need for buildings and the public realm to be designed to be
adaptable to future climate conditions and resilient to more frequent
extreme weather events. Circular economy/waste planning is
specifically covered in the Strategic Policy S16: Circular Economy and
Waste.

Planning for Sustainability SPD

The Planning for Sustainability SPD (February, 2025) provides
guidance on how applicants should approach environmental
sustainability through the planning application process. It sets out
detailed guidance on how to fulfil policies of the Local Plan 2015, as
well as emerging policies such as the City Plan 2040. Specifically, it:

Sets out the key approaches the City Corporation is targeting on
different sustainability themes.

Identifies a list of key actions.

Provides guidance on what, how and when relevant sustainability
aspects should be considered during the planning application
process.

Carbon Options Guidance

Figure 2: The proposed amendment of the Building Regulations,
Part Z, to regulate embodied carbon on a national scale.

London Plan Guidance

Whole Life-Cycle Carbon
Assessments

March 2022

Figure 3: London Plan Guidance on ‘Whole Life-cycle Carbon
Assessments’ March 2022

City Pan A0t

Figure 4: Emerging City Plan 2040

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation




v abed

Provides a collation of relevant recommended standards,
certifications and guidelines.

The SPD is divided into five thematic chapters that focus on the
environmental sustainability of the City's built environment:

Chapter 3, Retrofit and reuse, requires developments to adopt

a retrofit first approach that is informed by carbon optioneering
in accordance with this Carbon Options Guidance. The chapter
provides a definition of retrofit, sets out the retrofit first approach,
and provides advice on retrofit in historic buildings.

Chapter 4, Greenhouse gas emissions and energy use, sets
out guidance for how applicants should address whole life-
cycle carbon and operational energy use. A key action highlights
that developments should prioritise retrofit over redevelopment
solutions. Carbon optioneering is a key process to reduce whole
life-cycle carbon.

Chapter 5, Circular economy, sets out guidance for how
applicants should address circular economy in construction and
operational circular economy. It recommends that the strategic
assessment of retention and development scenarios in a pre-
redevelopment audit is aligned with carbon optioneering.

Chapter 6, Climate resilience, addresses six climate related risks
and contains guidance to ensure climate resilience principles are
embedded within the design process of each development in the
City. The six key risks are: Flooding, Water stress, Overheating,
Pests and diseases, Trade food and infrastructure, and Biodiversity
losses.

Chapter 7, Urban greening and biodiversity, provides guidance on
how to protect, conserve and enhance biodiversity, habitats and

green infrastructure in the City, and how to adhere to policy targets
for Urban Greening Factor (UGF) and Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG).

Chapter 8 outlines key considerations, required application documents
and recommended supplementary material to support planning
applications at all RIBA stages.

Related reporting requirements

There are other carbon-related planning reports that should be taken
into consideration. They include Greenhouse Gas impact assessments,
the Circular Economy Statement, operational energy and operational
water assessments. Where relevant, these should be referenced in
WLC Assessment reporting, in particular to highlight discrepancies
and overlaps in design considerations and decisions. An overview of
the related reporting requirements is provided in Appendix 1.

Light Retrofit

Deep Retrofit

Substantial demolition

Substructure retention
only

Total demolition

Figure 5: Scale from retrofit to new build (Planning for
Sustainability SPD)

Figure 6: Planning for Sustainability SPD

uoiualay

=,
_.:r.f .l':-mﬂ [ o

|

2
iy t=i

[

5 E .--. o .
4 -, o -
Tw, ™ 1
- r [
) ¥ -. oo o,
* - L
St . i x g r
- LT e il W

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation




Gg obed

2. Whole life-cycle carbon
assessments for pre-
application optioneering and
planning applications

This chapter compares the typical life-cycle boundaries and elemental
scope for pre-application carbon optioneering (following this Carbon
Options Guidance) and detailed WLC Assessments. There is currently
a variety of methodologies for conducting WLC Assessments and the
scope of life-cycle modules, building elements, and information that
should be included within them differs, as shown below in Table 1and
Table 2.

Modules A1-A3 include the product manufacture, modules A4-A5
cover transport to site and the installation processes. Combined
these are known as upfront embodied carbon A1-A5 (i.e. at practical
completion of the building). Modules B1-B5 cover operational and
fugitive emissions relating to use, maintenance, repair, replacement
and refurbishment, modules C1-C4 cover demolition, transport to

a disposal facility, waste process and disposal. Module D covers
emissions beyond the system boundary, accounting for consideration
of what happens to material at the end of the building life-cycle, i.e. the
benefits of reusing or recycling in the net flows of materials exiting the
system boundary.

In a WLC Assessment, operational energy use, module B6 and
operational water use, module B7, are also included. Module B8
accounts for user activities that are not covered in B6-B7, such

as emissions from vehicles using a road on site or the impact of
commuting to an office building during the building's in-use stage.
Module B8 is a recent addition of the 2nd edition of the Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Professional Standard (PS)
for 'Whole Life Carbon Assessment in the built environment’. However,
it is not currently included in GLA WLC Assessment reporting

Table 1 compares the typical WLC Assessment scoping boundaries for
pre-application carbon optioneering studies (following this guidance)
and detailed WLC Assessments conducted for different types of
development in the City.

Table 2 includes a comparison of building element scoping across
industry bodies such as the UK Green Building Council (UKGBC),
Greater London Authority (GLA), Low Energy Transformation
Initiative (LETI), RIBA, RICS, and the UK Net Zero Carbon Buildings
Standard (UK NZCBS) in terms of European Standard EN 15978:2011
Sustainability of construction works.

Carbon Options Guidance

Table 1: Comparison of life-cycle stages. Whole life-cycle carbon Scope of whole life-cycle carbon reporting in the City of London.

PRE-APPLICATION

STAGE APPLICATION STAGE

Lifecycle stages (based on
EN 15978)

WLC Assessment for minor
developments in the City

Strongly encouraged
(depending on the scope of works)

WLC Assessment
for GLA referable
developments in the
City

WLC Assessment for
major developments in
the City

Whole Life-Cycle
Carbon Optioneering

Impact of the existing building's demolition

Demolition impact of existing v v v v

building structures Reported separately Reported separately Reported separately Reported separately

Product and Construction Process (Practical Completion) Stage

A1-A3 Construction product
supply, transport and v v v
manufacturing v
: A ted
A4-A5 Transport to site and . v v v
construction impacts

B1-B5 In Use Embodied
Carbon v v v v
v v %
B6 Operational energy use # v 30 years for energy 30 years for energy
Regulated For 60 years assessments assessments 30 years for energy assessments
60 years for WLC 60 years for WLC 60 years for WLC Assessments
Assessments Assessments
: v
B6 Operational energy use # v v
Unregulated
Unregulated g 60 years for WLC 60 years for WLC 60 years for WLC Assessments
Assessments Assessments
B7 Operational water use v v v

B8 User activities

End of Life-Cycle Stage

C1-C4 Deconstruction,
demolition, transport, waste
processing and disposal

Beyond the Project Life-Cycle

D Stages beyond the life-
cycle, including reuse,
recovery, recycling

# Operational energy assessment i.e.TM54 or NABERS whole building or base build with tenancy prediction where possible, to enable a more accurate estimation of in use energy performance

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation




o¢ abed

It is worth noting that the referenced documents may change and
that the industry landscape is continually evolving and improving
at pace. The methodology for optioneering set out in Chapter 6 will
be updated, as necessary, should there be any significant changes
to existing or new methodologies and policies relating to carbon
reporting and early-stage WLC optioneering.

Notes on using calculation methodologies

Given the early stage of assessment, carbon optioneering as set out in
this guidance, does not follow the RICS PS WLC Assessment guidance
(any version) but uses its own scope (as shown in Tables 1 and 2),
methodology and reporting requirements (as outlined in further detail
in Chapter 6).

The WLC Assessment methodology provided in the RICS PS WLC
Assessment 2nd edition, effective from 1 July 2024, is currently the
most comprehensive of all the industry methods set out in Table 2.

The current version of the GLA WLC Assessment guidance (March
2022), including the embodied carbon benchmarks and the GLA WLC
template, is based on the 1st edition of the RICS PS 'Whole life carbon
assessment for the built environment’ methodology. For consistency
and comparison purposes, all planning stage WLC assessments
submitted to the City Corporation should follow the RICS PS 1st
Edition methodology until the GLA updates its WLC Assessment
guidance, which is anticipated to be in line with the new RICS WLC
Professional Standard 2nd edition.

Applicants can provide additional WLC Assessments in accordance
with RICS 2nd edition methodology. This additional layer of detail
would be welcomed.

Carbon Options Guidance

Table 2: Whole life-cycle carbon comparison of scopes vs building part element/group

Pre-
Application Detailed Whole Life Carbon Assessments Net Zsetrgn%g:ggn UK
Carbon
Building part / Optioneering
Element group GLAwLc  RiBA 2030 LRI Qe q UKNZCBS  UKGBC Net
(in line Guidance Climate Embodied PS WLC PS WLC (Pilot version Zero Carbon
with this (March 2022) Challenge Carbon Assessment Assessment Rev 1) Framework
: Version 2 Primer 1st edition 2nd edition
guidance)
v
P ; v v Optional and v Accounted for | Optional and
Demolition prior
to Construc[’?ion Reported Reported reported | Accounted for | under A5.1 reported
separately separately separately under A5.1 (excluded separately
from upfront
limits)
Qualitative v
g description of Benchmark
Fa\(/:\;ll)tr?(tslng the anticipated doer?gt i;ncaI[ste Optional v v Optional
temporary | these building
works elements
Substructure v v v v v v v v
Superstructure
(Frame, upper v v v v v v v v
floors, roof,
stairs, ramps)
Superstructure
(External walls, v v v v v v v v
windows, doors)
Superstructure
(Internal walls, v v v v Optional v v Optional
partitions, doors)
Finishes v v v v Optional v v Optional
Fittings,
furnishings . ,
and equipment v v v v Optional v v Optional
(FF&E)
Building
services/ MEP - :
(including v v v v Optional v v Optional
refrigerant)
Prefabricated
Buildings and v v v v Optional v v Optional
Building Units
Work to Existi . .
OrBu(i)Idi;(IgS 9 v v v Optional v Optional
External Works v v Optional v Optional

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation




)€ abed

3. Introduction to carbon optioneering

The development of this methodology is driven by the growing
realisation that the construction of new buildings using the most
common and current construction technigues and materials result

in high carbon emissions over the building’s life-cycle. Carbon
optioneering is a first step of carbon evaluation and is designed

to enable a consistent, early-stage approach to assessing carbon
impacts for a variation of retention and development scenarios for

a specific site, in order to find the best balance in whole life-cycle
carbon emission terms prior to adding other considerations (as set out
in Chapter 4) into the planning process.

Optimising opportunities for a specific site whilst incentivising the
retrofit of existing buildings and thus minimising demolition waste and
reducing carbon emissions, are key actions in the City Corporation’s
pursuit to achieve outstanding, best-in-class buildings that contribute
to an attractive and vibrant City environment.

The assessment and benchmarking of embodied carbon up to
practical completion (Modules A1-3 and A4-A5) can be used as

an effective way to evaluate and then mitigate emissions from
construction and materials. Reducing upfront embodied emissions
is particularly important to achieve the aspirational target limits set
for global temperature rise. Whole life-cycle carbon impacts are an
important part of the process and should be considered in decision
making for developments.

It is also acknowledged that the majority of the Square Mile's existing
building stock has relatively high operational emissions, primarily due
to inferior energy efficiency standards and technologies at the time of
original construction and/or latest refurbishment, compared to current
requirements and design criteria (insulation, air tightness, solar control
glass, building services etc.). As such, significant fabric and MEP
improvements and switching to renewable energy sources are crucial
measures expected for all proposed schemes.

When is carbon optioneering required?

Carbon optioneering is required for all major schemes. Minor
developments should carry out carbon optioneering if they do not
propose to retain at least 50% (by area) of an existing building(s)’ floor
slabs. This would include both upper and suspended floors in the
basement, but exclude the lowest floor slab.

All schemes subjected to the above requirements should undertake
independent third-party review as a quality assurance mechanism for
their carbon optioneering results. The third-party review process will
be managed, guided and supported by City Corporation officers, while

Carbon Options Guidance

When is carbon optioneering required?

NO

Optioneering required

START HERE

Are at least 50% (by floor area) of the existing floor slabs retained?

| The requirement to produce a full Carbon Options |
I Study in line with this guidance should be discussed I
! and agreed with City Corporation officers on a case- !
I I

* For example, major retrofit proposals might be exempted where a detailed carbon optioneering exercise would
not provide meaningful information or worthwhile, alternative and feasible options with lower carbon impacts

YES

Application type

Minor

No optioneering required

Figure 7: Decision tree for optioneering requirement

being funded by the applicant.

While minor schemes that do retain at least 50% (by area) of

the existing floor slabs are not required to undertake full carbon
optioneering, applicants are encouraged to explore alternative design
approaches and construction methods that minimise the carbon
intensity of the development.

The consideration of options and the need for a full Carbon Options
Study in line with this guidance should be discussed and agreed with
the City Corporation officers on a case-by-case basis. There may

be major applications for retrofit proposals where a detailed carbon
optioneering exercise would not provide meaningful information or
worthwhile alternative feasible options with lower carbon impacts.

Applicants might be exempted from the requirement of producing
a detailed assessment of different development options when the
proposal presented by the applicant team early in the pre-application

process clearly demonstrates the lowest level of intervention needed
to optimise the energy efficiency, the quality and the quantity of the
proposed development, that meets, as a minimum, conditions 1 and 2
from the list below:

1. The existing foundations and other substructural elements of
the building are fully retained in use, supporting the proposed
building, and without any strengthening works.

2. The proposal involves a major retention of the existing floor slabs
(80% or higher, by area), without significant strengthening works
for any new extension.

3. The existing fagade relating to the retained superstructure
is retained with minimal remedial works that entail the sole
replacement of materials showing evident signs of deterioration
and/or approaching the end of their reference service life (e.g.
residual life less than 5 years).

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation 1




g¢ abed

4. Optioneering considerations

The following characteristics can significantly affect the WLC impacts
and the evaluation of different development options, and should be
considered as part of the optioneering exercise:

Quality of existing building: The condition of materials and
structures in an existing building will be a critical determinant of the
extent of elements that can be retained when seeking to improve an
existing asset and bring it up to current performance and functional
market standards.

For example, a structure that was poorly constructed or maintained
may require too many (life-cycle) interventions to maintain structural
integrity for retention to be feasible. Often, existing assets require
extensions to validate the Capital Expenditure (CAPEX) of a major
intervention. Extension potential will be dictated by structure and
substructure design of the existing building.

Adding piles and foundations to an existing building could mean a
level of complexity that increases cost and programme to a degree
that the proposition becomes unviable. Recent industry experience
shows that particular care should be taken when considering
1950s/60s concrete structures, due to the construction techniques,
curing of the concrete, and the grading of the concrete/steel used
at the time. However, each project should check the condition of the
existing building materials quality as far as practically possible, to
enable informed decisions to be made. Poorly maintained windows
can be restored to improve air permeability, but conductivity, light
transmittance and solar control are more difficult to achieve without
additional material or complete replacement.

Facade interfaces: As well as assessing existing quality, decisions
around fagade retention need to take into consideration any new
interfaces with the internal environment, for example, for on-

floor ventilation systems and mixed-mode ventilation. These are
increasingly being adopted by commercial buildings to improve
energy efficiency, spatial adaptability (as part of a health and
wellbeing design strategy) and to free up roof area for amenity uses.
There is a relationship between operational energy performance
and embodied carbon of the facade, which should be optmised to
minimise whole life carbon (embodied + operational) impacts over the
asset lifecyle.

Health and wellbeing: Design considerations and interventions
around health and wellbeing have become more prevalent in
workspace over the past few years, and increasingly so in a post-
pandemic era. More consideration is being given to quantities of fresh
air to dilute indoor pollutants, for example through the application

of enhanced on-floor ventilation systems. However, achieving an
optimum ventilation strategy while retaining an existing facade can be
challenging. Increased fresh air rates are also leading to increases in
operational carbon emissions.

Other design considerations for healthier internal environments
include internal levels of daylight and thermal comfort, which may
shift a decision to replacing existing glass in a refurbishment; and the
presence of toxic materials, such as asbestos, which could result in the
removal of existing building elements.

Floor to ceiling heights: Existing floor-to-ceiling heights could
constrain the functional adaptation of an existing structure and new
building services solutions. For example, low floor-to-ceiling heights
may not lend themselves to certain uses, and optimised clear heights,
achieved by transferring heating, cooling and ventilation plant to

an underfloor system, is often limited by existing lift lobby and stair
landing levels. Whilst acknowledging the inherent challenges of
adapting existing structures unable to deliver clear floor-to-ceiling
heights in line with the current market expectations for best-in-class
office spaces, applicant teams should explore any opportunity for
maximise retention. Opportunities include change of use and/or use
of certain areas of a building with lower heights for meeting rooms,
server rooms, or other functions not significantly compromised by
lower floor-to-ceiling heights. When existing floor levels cannot be
maintained, the City Corporation supports greater creativity and
encourage project teams to explore pioneering strategies for reuse on-
site of the existing slabs (e.g. jacking up or down portions of existing
slab, cut existing slabs and reuse in soft-spots, etc.) whilst being
mindful of the impacts of temporary works.

Land use and building type: It is important to note that different land
uses and building types have an effect on the structural requirements
of a building due to loading expectations and flexibility requirements.
A few examples include uses that require wider clear spans, such as
retail, which could make the structural solution and carbon impact
more intense; and uses that have higher loading requirements and
need vibration control, for example in science labs (life sciences) and
gymnasiums; and increased structural materials due to lateral loading
on tall buildings.

Carbon Options Guidance

The way a building is operated and managed also has a direct
effect on operational carbon emissions from energy consumption,
for example longer hours of operation by food and beverage
establishments.

Power infrastructure: Substituting gas-fired heating systems with
energy efficient electric alternatives is a very effective way of reducing
operational carbon emissions. However, in some cases, securing
enough power to serve a development’s decarbonisation initiatives
can be challenging due to utilities infrastructure constraints. This is
another reason why reducing energy demand should be prioritised.

A mitigating action could be that a building's systems and controls
are set to prioritise electricity and thermal storage, before gas is
consumed.

Buildings that apply electric heating may still have other intermittent
uses of fossil fuel, such as life safety generators and fagade
maintenance equipment. These systems require on-site storage of
fuel, which is frequently diesel. Alternatives that can be explored

for generators are secondary utility high voltage supply fed from

a primary network substation that is independent from that of

the primary supply, or uninterruptible power supply equipment
incorporating an appropriately sized battery installation (subject to
authority approval). An alternative fuel that is considered due to low
environmental impact relative to diesel is Hydrotreated Vegetable Qil,
a synthetic diesel, manufactured from waste products comprising a
mix of vegetable oils and animal/fish fats.

Building complexity: Design complexity and the number of elemental
sub-components typically increases carbon intensity. Therefore,
simplification of structure, fagcades, systems, etc. has carbon benefits and
is encouraged. In retrofit and refurbishment schemes, temporary works
can play a crucial role in securing safety and stability of the existing
walls, floors, and other building elements during demolition, alteration,
and reconstruction phases, allowing for safe access to work areas,
and protecting surrounding areas from damage, all while maintaining
structural integrity throughout the project. An accurate assessment of
the carbon impacts of temporary works at the early design stages of
the project is often unviable, however design teams should provide a
description of the anticipated temporary works required for each option
and acknowledge their potential impact on carbon.

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation 12




6€ abed

Procurement: The options and availability of low carbon building
products on the market are currently limited. In some cases, lower
carbon options are available from longer distances, increasing the
emissions associated with transport (Stage A4), although these can be
comparatively minor compared to the product manufacture. However,
this is changing rapidly as manufacturing processes are adapting

and supply chains recognise the high value of low carbon in sections
of the market, for real estate in London in particular. It can also be
challenging to anticipate procurement of lower carbon materials and
effects on programme at an early stage. The material specifications
and the procurement routes should generally remain realistic and
consistent (as appropriate) between options in the Carbon Options
Study.

Carbon assumptions: Due to market fluctuations and limitations, it is
recommended that, at pre-application and application stages, material
and component specifications for the Carbon Options Study and the
detailed WLC Assessment for planning are both based on reliable
market-average databases and sector-level carbon data. Relevant
carbon benchmarks from verifiable tools or software, such as One
Click LCA and Cerclos (eTool) can be used in absence of detailed
design information for certain building layers / systems. The carbon
factors and the adopted carbon benchmarks should generally remain
consistent (as appropriate) between options in the Carbon Options
Study.

Manufacturer-specific Environmental Product Declaration (EPD)
certificates should not be used in early design stages (unless the
manufacturer is known) in order to mitigate procurement risks and
uncertainty arising from differentiation in performance of similar
products/materials produced by different manufacturers. The
approach to data selection should be reviewed in the later design
stages; sector-level data will be replaced by product-specific data only
once there is a reasonable certainty on targeted manufacturers and/or
specific products to be procured.

Commerciality: A critical factor in decision making around the

level of intervention in a building is the commerciality of the asset.

In commercial buildings, the net lettable area and lease value are
imperative metrics. The market in the City is shifting demand for

net zero carbon, fossil fuel free, health and wellbeing conscious and
smarter workspace. As market demands change, many asset holders
are racing to update their lettable spaces at the end of the next lease
term, by retrofitting, extending and improving the quality of their
assets. This is to ensure that buildings don't become stranded assets,
and equity and operating value are maintained.

The standard for what is required in a building update needs to be
competitive in the market that it is trying to attract, and the cost of the
intervention needs to be justified by a likely return on investment.

Densification: As London tries to move towards a polycentric city

to release infrastructural pressures and improve quality of life, its
existing ‘'mega-centres’ remain very relevant. Urban densification
(the increasing density of people in urban areas) is accepted as a
necessary part of limiting land take while serving population growth.
Densification tends to occur in fast growing population centres with
a combination of demographic change, economic pressure and

large transport infrastructure projects. The City is very well served by
sustainable transport infrastructure and planning policies are in place
to limit pressures on utility infrastructure and the existing community
(the people who live, work and use the City).

Densification, e.g. extensions and taller buildings, tend to increase
the carbon intensity of structural elements relative to benchmarks
derived from mid-height buildings. Striking the right balance between
the environmental (and social) costs and benefits of increasing

NIA on brownfield sites is a critical factor that policy makers have

to deal with, in particular in addressing climate change. Resilience
and sustainability should be central priorities for increasing existing
building heights.

et ' i, [
Sr it Bl SN PR = o T i S B

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation




O abed

5. Other policy opportunities

This chapter addresses circumstances where other environmental
planning policy requirements may result in lower or higher carbon
emissions. All factors need careful consideration on a project-
by-project basis, and policy requirements need to be fine-tuned
depending on priorities discussed at pre-application stage.

Circular Economy

The Mayor of London has introduced a requirement for referable
developments to develop a circular economy strategy and produce a
statement as part of the planning application. The approach is defined
in the 'Circular Economy Statement Guidance’ (adopted 25 March
2022). The principles encourage building reuse, recovery of material
for reuse and recycling, material efficiency, waste management and
infrastructure to support material reuse (such as storage and collection
systems).

The circular approach often aligns with the principles of low carbon
interventions. For example, it encourages refurbishment and efficient
use of materials and requires consideration of the end-of-life stage
by a proposed new building (building as a material banks/materials
passport approach). This area is still evolving and can significantly
reduce carbon.

There are, however, some circumstances where actions that align
with circular principles can increase upfront carbon emissions. For
example, design for future adaptability and flexibility might require
additional use of resources and materials, such as for buildings with
larger structural grid spans offering flexible use of space are generally
less performing from a material efficiency perspective. On occasion,
it has been found that recovering/repurposing a material for reuse on
site frequently requires the material to be reformulated into a new high
value use (or upcycled), a process that requires transport to and from
the site and energy to repurpose the materials. Recovering material
can also lengthen construction programmes prolonging stage A5 of
the life-cycle and local environmental impact.

Therefore, it is important to compare the carbon emissions of the
product stages of recycled elements to their newly made equivalents
with the lowest carbon opportunity established.

Low and zero carbon technologies

Planning policy, building regulations and BREEAM assessments
have for years required the inclusion of low carbon and zero carbon
technology in the energy hierarchy of proposed developments.

One example, and often the most viable option in the City of London,
is to install air source heat pumps (ASHPs) and a maximum area of
roof-mounted photovoltaics (PV) . Policy prioritises operational energy
and carbon reduction in advance of renewable energy generation,
but no consideration is given to reducing the embodied carbon of
PV and other renewable energy sources. An array in London can
achieve carbon break-even within a decade, but as the electrical grid
decarbonises, there is an argument that the array will displace less
carbon and could never balance out the embodied carbon emitted.
For this reason, it is recommended that circularity principles are
applied to the specification of PVs (e.g. reusable mounting and take-
back schemes) and energy storage is incorporated to increase the
proportion of renewable energy uptake at time of use.

It is important to note that PV can bring other benefits like

localised power and diversification of energy sources; current

WLC Assessments tend not to factor in the impact or wider power
networks' embodied carbon (i.e. the impact of the power plant
construction upgrades, cabling etc.). PV will be a crucial piece of the
UK energy and decarbonisation strategy.

District Energy Networks

Another local policy requirement is connecting to existing District
Energy Networks (DEN), preparing for a future connection to a
planned DEN, or contributing to the development of DEN in the
Square Mile in various other ways. This is emphasised by both the
London Plan’s and emerging City Plan’s heat infrastructure priorities.
However, due to the drive to remove fossil fuel combustion from
buildings, for reasons relating to both carbon reduction and air quality
targets, electrically heated buildings tend to currently have much lower
carbon emissions than existing heat networks. This is because the
energy centres that serve the DENSs still largely run on gas systems.

In assessing operational carbon emissions (B6) for early design-stage
carbon optioneering studies, applicants should consider the same
energy source and apply the same carbon factors for all options.

Carbon Options Guidance

Public realm and urban greening

The City includes a network of gardens, small open spaces and
squares that are maintained by the City Corporation. Nevertheless, the
area of green and open space per capita is relatively small, and the
discrepancy will increase as the population and densification rises.

Planning policy encourages urban greening and Biodiversity Net
Gain (BNG), for which the City Corporation has adapted the London
Plan's Urban Greening Factor (UGF) calculation which is required
for proposed developments to demonstrate higher value green
infrastructure. Due to the high density of the City, urban greening
measures are often located at roof levels or on terraces and balconies.
Some of these measures can have a reverse effect on upfront
embodied carbon, especially if they increase the structural load of
the building (e.g., blue roofs are generally heavier than standard flat
roofs due to the additional components required for water retention
and controlled drainage, and the installation of trees in the upper
floor terraces or on the building's roof could significantly impact the
structural load). Retrofit proposals aiming to reuse the structural
capacity of the existing building without structural strengthening
works might face additional challenges in achieving UGF and BNG
requirements.

In order to increase the amount of open and green space in the City,
brownfield and lower quality space may need to be upgraded. This
may result in decisions to demolish lower quality infrastructure. In
addition, this can be difficult to achieve on existing structures mostly
due to loading limits and plant requirements, however, all solutions
to overcome this should be explored and communicated. In addition,
major developments are required to carry out ecological surveys

of the site, and propose ecological protection, enhancement and
maintenance measures.

Climate resilience

Adapting to climate change is crucial in the City as a densely built
environment which is especially prone to local flooding and urban
heat island effects. Integrating measures to minimise the risk of local
flooding and overheating of buildings as well as the public realm are
key to making the City a resilient area as the effects of climate change
become more pronounced. Space constraints and loading limits of
existing buildings can make it challenging to incorporate measures
such as green roofs and walls, sustainable urban drainage measures
such as blue roofs, rainwater harvesting and attenuation tanks,
adapted fagade systems and sustainable heating, ventilation and air
conditioning (HVAC) systems. Opportunities and constraints must be
clearly communicated to identify the balance between climate change
mitigation and adaptation.

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation 14




T obed

6. Carbon optioneering
methodology

The GLA's Whole Life-Cycle Carbon Assessments Guidance, Circular
Economy Statement Guidance and the City Corporation's Planning for
Sustainability SPD require a full exploration of development options
before considering substantial demolition. This Carbon Options
Guidance recommends a methodology to do so, and it recommends
how this should be demonstrated in the planning application. A Carbon
Options Tool has been created for reporting purposes, which should be
completed by the applicant and submitted to the City Corporation in
Excel format.

Due to the significant impact on carbon emissions and climate change
by major building interventions and new construction, proposed
developments need to demonstrate reduction and mitigation of
carbon emissions using a consistent carbon optioneering approach.

Carbon optioneering is required for all major development proposals
and those minor proposals where at least 50% (by area) of the
existing building(s)' floor slabs is not retained and reused. There may
be major development proposals that are classed at retrofits where
there is no feasible other option with lower carbon impacts from new
construction, as outlined in Chapter 3. Where this has been discussed
and agreed with planning officers, application proposals may be
considered exempt from carbon optioneering.

Options will be developed by the applicants in early discussions with
planning officers in the pre-application process, and their details will
vary on a case-by-case basis. The number of options will be limited
and agreed based on presenting clearly discernible, feasible design
approaches to the proposal in order to inform the optimum design for
the application scheme, both in carbon terms and in considering other
environmental opportunities such as urban greening, biodiversity,
climate resilience measures and circular economy. Agreement on the
options to be assessed is not commensurate with planning officers
accepting the applicant’s preferred option or the ‘direction of travel’ of
the development proposal.

Options should provide an indication of the potential for a given site.
They should be based on the same assumptions including which energy
strategy is thought to be the most advantageous in carbon reduction
terms, in order to be able to compare the options - unless there are
reasons for not doing so, which should be stated. Opportunities,
constraints and wider considerations should be transparently reported
for each option. The options assessment report should include a
narrative and explanation around the options initially considered but
subsequently excluded from the detailed optioneering exercise.

Optioneering requirements

Carbon optioneering should be carried out as part of discussing the
pre-redevelopment audit at pre-application stage with planning officers
and include the following:

1. A thorough assessment of the existing building on site, including:

Year of original construction and summary of subsequent
refurbishment/remedial interventions.

Existing building Gross Internal Area (GIA), Net Internal Area
(NIA), number of storeys (below and above ground) and overall
building height.

Building use and occupation status.

Description of existing structure, existing fagade, and existing
building servicing.

Slab-to-slab heights (the vertical distance between the top of
one floor slab and the bottom of the slab above it).

Sustainability credentials, energy performance and sustainability
certifications held by the existing building.

Type, quality, conditions and residual service life of the existing
building's structure, fagade, lift and MEP installations.

Description of existing issues and constraints - This includes any
critical issues affecting any safety requirements, the quality of the
space, building's accessibility, and sustainability performance.

Minimum upgrades required to resolve the identified critical
issues, prolonging the building's lifespan and making the asset
usable for an additional period of time (applicants might consider
this to be the time that covers the typically shorter lifespan of
elements like building services or glass curtain walling, e.g. 15-
20 years).

2. Well-considered options that are realistic and feasible development
proposals for a specific site from both a short-term and a long-
term perspectives - For a short-term upgrade or retrofit options,
the carbon impacts of additional interventions occurring after the
foreseeable future (e.g. when the short-term ends) and up to 60
years should be considered and included in the Carbon Options
Study.

3. Demonstrating different levels of interventions to the existing
buildings on site in the design process.

The first option of the appraisal (baseline scenario) should reflect
the lightest level of interventions to mitigate the critical issues
affecting the existing site, prolonging the building's lifespan
and making the asset usable/lettable for the foreseeable future,

Carbon Options Guidance

minimising demolition and upfront carbon impacts by delaying
more whole scale replacement and associated carbon impacts
as much as possible. This can include limited areas of demolition
(e.g. plant area) or new build (e.g. infill of part of a floor slab).

Options for extension should generally include a variant which
demonstrates the maximum extension (floor area) achievable,
or that is under consideration by the applicant, whilst
minimising works to existing or introducing new foundations or
superstructure.

4. Providing options information in Dashboard 1 (Table A) of the City
Corporation's reporting template ‘Carbon Options Tool’, including:

Summary of scope of works.

Existing GIA being demolished / retained.

Proposed Gross Internal Area (GIA)

Proposed Net Internal Area (NIA)

List of existing materials and building elements being demolished.
Overall building height and number of floors above ground.
Slab-to-slab heights and achievable floor to ceiling heights.

Estimates of existing material retained % by mass for substructure
and superstructure (frame, upper floors, roof structure, stairs and
ramps, internal and external load-bearing walls) and by area for
facade (external walls, windows and external doors).

Embodied carbon to practical completion (modules A1-A5).
Life-cycle embodied carbon (modules A1-A5, B1-B5, C1-C4).

The carbon impact of pre-construction demolition needs to
be accounted for and reported separately. For full demolition,
applicants should use 50 kgCO,e/m? of demolished area as per
current GLA WLC Assessment guidance.

Whole building energy consumption (kWh/m2GlA/year and
kWh/m?NIA/year) and operational carbon emissions from
energy consumption (module B6). The assumptions behind the
figures provided, i.e. UKGBC target or similar, should be stated.

EPC rating.

Fuel source for operational energy (gas, electricity, other to be
defined).

Carbon factors used for operational energy.

Whole life-cycle carbon including both embodied carbon and
operational emissions (A1-A5, B1-B6, C1-C4).

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation

15




2 obed

Opportunities, main benefits and constraints of each development
option, specifically in relation to carbon emissions and other
sustainability policy areas.

Any assumptions and justifications for the above in the estimations.

Carbon calculations for structure - The embodied carbon of the
structure should be calculated for each option using structural
engineer estimations. These should be based on standard material
specifications for UK projects and default carbon factors as per
IStructE guidance 'How to calculate embodied carbon’, consistently
applied across all options. The results should include 15%
contingency, given the early stage of the project and the inherent
uncertainty.

Other elements or layers of the building can either be based on a
detailed calculation, should the design information be available, or on
an estimation based on appropriate, and reasonably conservative,
carbon benchmarks. The methodology chosen should be identified
and explained in the carbon optioneering report. Consistent
methodology and assumptions should be adopted across the
various development options. If based on detailed calculations,
assumptions should align with standard material specifications
where possible.

Refrigerant impacts (In module B): Refrigerant fugitive emissions
from building services can have large impacts in terms of WLC
emissions. There are complexities in predicting these emissions
at the earliest stages as designs are often not established to
the level where they can be accurately estimated. However,
optioneering should take into account the refrigerant impacts, this
is especially important if different systems are proposed in the
options assessed i.e. a Chiller, a VRF/ VRV system, an ASHP etc.

These impacts should be calculated consistently using
reasonable data and stated assumptions. The refrigerant
type should be clearly stated along with the GWP. Where
systems are the same type for all options it is reasonable to
assume the refrigerant impact would be similar across options.

Estimations of impact should be reported in Table B in the cumulative
impacts tab of the tool.

Operational energy (B6) - Applicants are required to report the
estimated Energy Use Intensity (EUI) for the whole building (kWh/
m2GlA/year and kWh/m?2NIA/year) for each option.

The energy use can be estimated through use of industry
benchmarks and energy targets (e.g, UKGBC energy targets
for office buildings, NABERS DFP whole building estimations,
or Better Building Partnership (BBP) benchmarks, for example

10.

the Real Estate Environmental Benchmark (REEB) are deemed
to be the most realistic for whole building estimations based on
actual data. Detailed energy modelling such as predictive energy
assessment is not required for the purpose of the Carbon Options
Study. However, given the early stage of the project, the applicant
team should adopt appropriate, and reasonably conservative,
energy consumption rates that can realistically be delivered by
each option.

Consistent methodology, assumptions and carbon factors should
be adopted across the various development options. Where
different options involve significant fabric improvements and/or
new energy-efficient HVAC systems, it reasonable to assume the
same (or at least a similar) energy performance.

Applicants should not account for the long-term decarbonisation
of the electricity grid in their carbon optioneering studies. This is
to make sure there is better impact flow into the detailed WLC
and to represent a worst case solution at this stage.

For electricity sourced from the national grid, the Part L 2021
carbon factor (0.136 kgCO,e/kWh) should be used.

Where gas is supplied, the 0.210 kgCO,/kWh Part L figure
should be used. Where gas is used, it will need to be converted
to an electric equivalent in kWh. To convert gas consumption
(kWh) to electrical equivalent (kWhe), multiply kWh gas by 0.75.
Refer to latest guidance from NABERS/BRE/BBP/UKGBC as
appropriate.

District Energy: Where a district energy network is used, the
carbon factor should be stated based on information from the
network provider and must be referenced in the reporting.

Where a mix of different energy sources are used in the same
option, carbon estimations depending on consumption by fuel
type should be calculated.

Ensuring like-for-like reporting, without bias to favour one option
against the others. For example, the opportunity for energy and
carbon improvements (such as the adoption of high-efficient
heating/cooling/ventilation systems or the specification of low-
carbon construction materials) should be equivalent across all
options, except where constraints can be demonstrated, and the
equivalent level of aspiration to reduce elemental embodied carbon
should be applied equally across all options.

Presenting the development options on the basis of consistent,
assumed and proposed data including:

An equivalent approach to the level of assumptions and certainty
applied to embodied carbon estimates.

1.

12,

Carbon Options Guidance

Reporting in line with the equivalent scope for the WLC
Assessment (life-cycle stage and building element scopes).

Embodied carbon impact of further interventions with
justifications provided i.e. what has been assumed. For example,
estimated impact of plant replacement every 15 years of operation
over the life-cycle, using life-cycle modules B1-B5, C1-C4.

Exclude Module B7 ‘Water Consumption’ at this stage, as it does
not vary significantly between options, and it has a minor impact on
the carbon footprint of the development. Any variances, in particular
where an opportunity or constraint occurs for one option and not
another, should be shown.

Existing multi-building sites - Dashboard 1 (Table A) of the City
Corporation’s reporting template ‘Carbon Options Tool" should
be completed with the cumulative information of the whole
development, however the applicants should provide additional
granularity and include specific information for each building within
the accompanying optioneering report. Information to report for
each existing building includes all information listed in point 1 and
point 4 of this chapter.

It should also be noted that the WLC Assessment emissions fluctuate
and are likely to be different in later design and construction stages.
Generally, this is due to the availability of more detailed design
information, material quantities and accurate carbon data from the
supply chain. Emissions at practical completion may also change due
to procurement variations and the market. As more data becomes
available it will inform future projects to refine early estimations.

Chapter 7, Third-party review, is also a useful reference point to
ensure applicants provide all the necessary information in the
Carbon Options Study.

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation

16




¢ obed

7. Third-party review

Third-party review is required to ensure that options have been
designed, calculated and evaluated realistically, consistently and to
prove transparency.

The requirement for third-party review introduces rigour and scrutiny
into the process and ensures that the carbon optioneering forms a
robust basis for the development of the application scheme.

The review process will be arranged by the planning officers to
prevent any dependency issues and shall be funded by the applicant
(see Figure 6 below). A tender process will be started at the earliest
opportunity by planning officers, inviting external organisations able to
meet the requirements and the qualifications described in this chapter
to submit their proposal for third-party verification.

The appointment of the third-party reviewer will be managed by
planning officers and funded by the applicant. The tender process will
be started at the earliest opportunity by planning officers to ensure
that the appointment of the third-party reviewer is confirmed before
the options are agreed.

Third-party review process

The applicant team should complete a preliminary optioneering
assessment for the existing site and present the outcome of

this exercise to planning officers during the first pre-application
sustainability workshop, and third-party reviewer once appointed. This
preliminary scoping exercise should include:

A detailed assessment of the conditions of the existing building
on site, including existing opportunities and constraints (e.g., any
potential critical issues affecting safety requirements, building
accessibility, sustainability performance, compliance with
buildings regulation and current planning policies, the quality

of the space and lettability) and potential upgrades to resolve
the described issues and to prolong the building's lifespan,
guaranteeing usability and lettability of the asset for a period of
time to make full use of the lifespan of the upgrade.

An overview of the optioneering criteria, including any key drivers
factored in the decision-making process.

A list of well-considered, realistic and feasible development
options for the specific site, as well as any options assessed and
discounted as part of the scoping assessment - opportunities and
constraints of each option should be presented and discussed
with the planning officers.

Carbon Optio

A carbon assessment for each option is not required at this stage, this
will be completed afterwards and only for the options collaboratively
agreed between the applicant, planning officers and third-party
reviewer.

Upon completion of the third-party review of the Carbon Options
Study, the third-party reviewer and the applicant shall submit the
latest documents to the City Corporation officers, who will review the
results and the main findings from the review process and will inform
the applicant of any arising actions required to complete a successful
carbon optioneering process.

To ensure consistency of review, it is preferred that the same third-
party reviewer would be instructed to complete a third-party review of
the detailed planning stage WLC Assessment in the subsequent stage
of the application process.

Where the proposal submitted for planning is substantially different
from any of the options assessed during the pre-application stage (see
Chapter 8 for the definition of 'substantially different’), the applicants
should produce an addendum to the Carbon Options Study previously
submitted. This might be subjected to additional verification from the
third-party reviewer.

Applicant
undertakes options
scoping, and tender

process for third-
party review is
commenced

Applicant submits
draft report and
presents outline
options at pre-app
meeting

Options are
agreed with
planning
officers and
third-party
reviewer

Applicant submits
full Carbon Options
Study in line with
this guidance

Third-party
review of
options

Planning officers
review results to
conclude the pre-
application process

Applicant submits
detailed WLC
assessment of
application scheme

Third-party review
of application
scheme, concluded
in advance of
officer report

Figure 8: Optioneering and third-party review process. Informal discussions between applicant and planning officers are encouraged in all stages of the optioneering process.

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation




vt abed

Third-party reviewer qualifications
Third-party reviewers appointed by the City Corporation must:

Be independent from the applicant’s team. A statement will be
needed to avoid conflicts at tender stage, providing a declaration
of their independence.

Have suitable experience of a minimum of 3 years in carrying out
and reviewing whole life-cycle carbon assessments and energy
strategies / operational energy assessments (whole building).

Have recent working experience in the construction industry,
preferably on projects in the City, on building assets with similar
scale and use.

Submit CVs of the team of reviewers and relevant experience.

Third-party review output

The output should be in the form of a summary report that clearly
summarises the main findings from the review process.

A Third-party review framework has been developed and can be
provided by planning officers. All third-party reviewers should use
this framework to ensure consistency as well as guaranteeing that all
applications are subject to the same level of scrutiny. The Third-party
review framework and governance guidance can be downloaded from
the City Corporation webpage ‘Sustainable development planning
requirements:,

The findings should be categorised based on their potential impact on
the carbon comparison, adopting the following status codes:

- Status A - Compliant and/or satisfactory evidence.

»  Status B - Minor discrepancies, observations and recommendations
provided by the third-party reviewer with minor impact on the
carbon comparison of the different development options. The
applicants should review all Status B findings, provide the necessary
clarifications and update the Carbon Options Study accordingly.
However, as they are expected to be of low significance, it is
acceptable to conclude the third-party verification with a small
number of unresolved Status B findings, should this be deemed a
reasonable approach agreed with the third-party review and City
Corporation officers.

- Status C - Discrepancies and/or inconsistent assumptions detected
by the third-party reviewer, for example, that could potentially
alter the carbon comparison of the different development options.

Carbon Optio

All-party agreement on
framework and principles of
third-party review: Using this
guidance and Excel framework

Review is initiated: Applicant's team issues
information to third-party reviewer.

Third-party initial review:
Initiating Comment List is
established for applicant team's
consideration.

Follow-up Response Dialogue proceeds:
Recorded dialogue is used to manage
responses between applicant's team and third-
party. This step may be iterative; and may use
the carbon management step to conclude.

Carbon management record
established, if necessary

Conclusion: When all parties agree final
position, as recorded in the Follow-up
Response Dialogue records.

Figure 9: Third-party review process (Third-party review governance guidance, Arup 2025)

Suidance

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation




Gy abed

All findings classified with a status ‘C’ should be reviewed and
addressed by the applicant team ahead of the conclusion of the
carbon optioneering process. The applicant team may, at their own
risk, conclude the optioneering process with certain unresolved
Status C findings, in such instances, the applicant is expected to
substantiate their decision with robust justifications, providing valid
reasons for not addressing the feedback from the reviewer,

Assessment guidance for Reviewers

The review process should start with a briefing session between the
applicant team and the third-party reviewer. This is an opportunity for
the applicants to brief the appointed reviewer on the wider context of
the project, the site-specific opportunities and challenges, as well as
providing an overview of the optioneering process and the resultant
carbon assessment.

The overarching goal of the third-party review process is to ensure
like-for-like reporting, without bias to favour (or penalise) one
development option against the others. The review is not intended to
be a criticism of the Carbon Options Study prepared by the applicant;
instead, the process should help ensure consistency in assumptions
and elevate the information provided by the applicant to the planning
officers for consideration of carbon impacts, as well as improving
industry and applicant knowledge.

In reviewing the Carbon Options Study, the third-party reviewer should
cover the following items:

1. Information on the existing site - This should include a thorough
assessment of the existing building on site, covering as a minimum
the information listed in Chapter 6.

Are the existing building conditions reflected in the choice and
nature of options presented?

2. The review should ensure that options are sensible and pragmatic.
Does the choice of options reflect realistic and workable proposals
for the maintenance, retrofit and development of the site and cover
clearly discernible scenarios? Is the scope of the works fully set out
for each option?

3. Has a baseline scenario been set in accordance with the
recommendations provided in Chapter 6? This should reflect the
lightest level of interventions to mitigate the critical issues affecting
the existing site, prolonging the building's lifespan and making
the asset usable/lettable for the foreseeable future, minimising
demolition and upfront carbon impacts.

4. Where the Carbon Options Study includes options for extending

10.

1.

the building floor area, has an option which demonstrates the
maximum extension (floor area) achievable whilst minimising
strengthening works to the existing structure been considered?

Are the structural impacts calculated for each option robust,
consistent and do they include a breakdown into relevant
elements? As per the methodology recommended in Chapter 6,
the embodied carbon of the structure should be calculated for
each option using structural engineer estimations.

Are other key design elements aligned between options, and if
not, are differences declared and explained? Other elements or
layers of the building can either be based on a detailed calculation,
should the design information be available, or be based on an
appropriate estimation and reasonably conservative benchmark.
Are the adopted methodology and assumptions consistent across
the various development options? Are the chosen methodologies
and benchmarks clearly presented in the carbon optioneering
report?

Are any differences in operational emissions (life-cycle stage

B6) reasonable between options? Has the energy consumption

for the whole building been considered in the appraisal? Are the
Energy Use Intensities (kWh/m?NIA/year or kWh/m?GIA/year)
assumed by the project team for the various options reasonably
conservative and realistically achievable? Or are they unrealistically
low? And, if so, what is the justification? Is there a consistent
approach across options? Are the energy sources and the related
carbon factors (kgCO,e/kWh) aligned across the options?

How has refrigerant impact been considered? Are the estimations
and assumptions reasonable?

Where applicable, is the carbon impact resulting from a change of
use clearly presented (e.g. changing from offices to hotel, requiring
works to risers, cores, building services etc.)?

Have demolition impacts been calculated in accordance with
the recommendations provided in Chapter 6 (50 kgCO_e/m? of
demolished floor area), as per current GLA WLC guidance? Are
demolition impacts separately reported?

Are the options fully evaluated, including circular economy
approaches, climate resilience measures and wider considerations,
such as commerciality and risks? Are the constraints and the
opportunities for each option clearly presented without bias

and avoiding use of inconsistent assumptions that can favour or
penalise one or some of the options presented?

Carbon Options Guidance

12. Does the evaluation of the options focus on carbon impacts,
sustainability, and quality issues separately? Does it include an
overall summary that is clear and comprehensible?

13. Is all the required and relevant data in the methodology presented
clearly and correctly in Dashboard 1 of the Carbon Options Tool?
Are all options based on the same level of detail and supported by
the same level of design information?

14, For multi-buildings sites, have specific EUls, carbon impacts
and retention rates for each building been separately provided
within the summary report, as well as the overall figures within
Dashboard 1 of the Carbon Options Tool?

The reviewers are responsible for reviewing the information provided
to them by the applicant's team. It is the responsibility of the applicant
to ensure the information provided to the reviewers is accurate,
updated and as clear as possible. Reviewers may need to request
some additional contextual information from the applicant to complete
the review process.

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation

19




ot abed

8. The consideration of options in
the planning application process

Planning applications submitted to the City Corporation are expected
to provide a narrative of how the optioneering process has informed the
design of the application scheme in terms of retaining building elements
and materials and reducing carbon emissions. The Carbon Options Study
should include an analysis of the opportunities and constraints of each
option along with high level estimates of the associated WLC impact
compared against the vision and deliverables of a site. This assessment is
designed as a tool for the discussion and negotiation of a proposal in the
early pre-application stage between applicants and planning officers to
help optimise the design of the application scheme.

The methodology set out in this guidance will be updated as necessary to
reflect the latest scientific advances, technologies, policies and regulations.

Carbon Options Study and
pre-redevelopment audit

A Carbon Options Study developed in compliance with this guidance and
a pre-redevelopment audit, as defined in the London Plan Guidance for
Circular Economy Statements (current version, March 2022), serve the
same purpose: they are both tools to explore options for retaining existing
structures, materials and the fabric of existing buildings into the new
development; and the potential to refurbish buildings before considering
substantial demolition.

These two assessment tools are based on similar optioneering
considerations:

- Both assessments require a deep understanding of the existing
building, including its age, condition, and anticipated lifespan (e.g.
facade, structure, MEP systems, etc.).

« Both assessments should be undertaken as early as possible and
completed during pre-application stage to inform the design of the
application scheme.

« An independent review of the pre-redevelopment audit is strongly
encouraged (as per Clause 4.6.3 of GLA CES Guidance), just as a
Carbon Options Study developed in compliance with this guidance
should undergo independent third-party review as a quality assurance

mechanism for their optioneering results.

= T o T o R -t

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation



/v obed

The decision-making process followed in both assessments should
include considerations covering a wider range of environmental,
social and economic sustainability of developments, in addition
to an evaluation of the carbon impact of different development
scenarios (which is the overarching goal of a Carbon Options Study
completed in line with this guidance).

In consideration of the similarities between the two optioneering
assessments, applicants might consider combining the Carbon
Options Study and the pre-redevelopment audit into one
comprehensive report, provided that this exhaustively meets the
reporting requirement listed in this guidance, in addition to the
submission of the City Corporation Carbon Options Tool in Excel
format.

Application stage WLC Assessment

When required by development plan policy, all major developments
must submit a WLC Assessment that complies with GLA WLC
Assessment Guidance. The Planning for Sustainability SPD
encourages minor developments with significant demolition to submit
a WLC Assessment for the benefits of data monitoring and sharing of
insights.

The WLC Assessment report should transparently disclose the main
assumptions that inform the assessment, as well as any exclusions
and/or deviations from the requirements stated in the current GLA
WLC Assessment Guidance (March 2022). The WLC results of the
application scheme may vary from the WLC results reported in the
Carbon Options Study, as (1) the application stage WLC Assessment
is based on more, and perhaps different, design detail compared
with the options, and (2) the final application scheme may include
measures explored in various options.

Where the proposal submitted for planning permission is ‘substantially
different’ from any of the options assessed and presented to the

City Corporation officers in the pre-application stage, in particular
consisting of works with significantly higher carbon impacts, the
applicants should produce an addendum to the Carbon Options Study
previously submitted to justify deviations. The addendum might be
subjected to additional verification from the third-party reviewer, would
this be requested by planning officers.

The planning scheme can be considered ‘substantially different’ when
any of following conditions apply:

The new build GIA is more than 20% higher than the new build
GIA stated in the carbon optioneering for the assessed options.

The existing GIA being demolished is more than 20% higher that
the value stated in the Carbon Options Study.

The retention rates of the substructure, superstructure and/or
fagade are 20% lower than the retention rates provided in the pre-
application stage for the preferred option.

The upfront embodied carbon (A1-A5) of the proposed structure,
either in absolute terms (tCO,e) or as intensity (kgCO,e/m*GIA), is
more than 20% higher than the performance stated in the Carbon
Options Study.

The planning scheme would not deliver the main benefits
described in the Carbon Options Study.

The addendum to the Carbon Options Study should include:

Justification for deviations from preferred option previously
submitted and relevant design evidence (e.g. additional on-
site surveys that demonstrate the need for additional structural
demolition and/or fagade alteration/replacement).

Identification of any sustainability areas where the planning
scheme would fall short on performance and/or would not achieve
the targets presented in the pre-application stage.

Embodied carbon benchmarks

The Planning for Sustainability SPD (pages 22-23) sets out that
proposals should achieve the GLA "WLC benchmark’ ('standard’
benchmark) as a minimum for upfront carbon emissions (life-cycle
modules A1 - A5). Proposals should target the GLA ‘aspirational WLC
benchmark’ for all embodied carbon emissions (life-cycle modules A
- C). The Carbon Options Study should provide early indications as to
which options may result in high upfront carbon impacts.

Where the standard benchmark is not achieved (or aspirational from
2030), high embodied carbon impacts of development proposals
should be mitigated by providing 'wider environmental sustainability
benefits'. These should provide substantial benefits beyond policy
requirements onsite or beyond the site boundary to contribute to the
sustainability of the Square Mile, as required by the Development
Plan and detailed in the ‘Beyond the building' section of the City
Corporation’s Planning for Sustainability’ SPD, February 2025.

Third-party verification

The WLC Assessments submitted at application stage should be
independently reviewed to ensure consistency, accuracy and quality
assurance in reporting. The review will be arranged by planning
officers and funded by the applicants. To ensure consistency of review,
it is preferred that the same third-party reviewer would be instructed
to complete a third-party review of the detailed planning stage WLC
Assessment in the subsequent stage of the application process. The
third-party review should be undertaken using the Third-party review
framework.

Conditioned WLC Assessment
submissions

Planning stage WLC Assessments include assumptions in advance
of subsequent design and procurement stages of the proposed
development. Estimated carbon emissions may change due to design
development, market availability, available carbon data etc. This
may result in an embodied carbon gap between planning stage and
practical completion. To manage this process more constructively
in the planning process, and mitigate risks in collaboration with
applicants, major applications will be conditioned to submit RIBA
Stage 4 (Technical Design) and RIBA Stage 6 (Post-Construction)
WLC Assessments. The City Corporation will monitor post-
completion results that are required to be submitted by condition.

The updated WLC Assessments should include details and
information that explain changes to the reported carbon emissions.
The as-built submission (RIBA Stage 6) should be based on as-built
bills of material quantities provided by the appointed contractor

and approved by the project Quantity Surveyor. The as-built WLC
Assessment should comply with the data validation criteria provided
in section 2.7 of the current GLA's WLC Assessment guidance
(Materials and products) including the ‘Acceptable sources of carbon
data for materials and products’ section.

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation 21




g1 abed

Appendix 1 Related reporting requirements
Non-policy related reporting for net zero carbon

Over the past five years, the UK property industry has done more to advance the environmental agenda

than ever before. Developers, consultants and professional bodies have come together to declare a climate

and biodiversity emergency and have taken concrete action. Together we have developed much needed

clarity and guidance on how to truly achieve zero carbon by 2030.

Property lenders, investors, asset managers and occupiers are all driving this shift by demanding a very

high standard of environmental, social and governance policy as a prerequisite to any transaction. This
trend is increasing rapidly across all workplace environments, both for new and existing assets.

A number of businesses have declared that they have become net zero carbon in operation across portfolio
assets and activity within their control. These declarations in the London market tend to align with the World

Green Building Council or UK Green Building Council Definition Framework and consists of accounting for and

reducing carbon emissions, investing in renewable energy, offsetting residual carbon through accepted credit

frameworks and publicly disclosing their pathway.

Other approaches adopted by applicants that vary in scope to planning policy requirements include:

The Low Energy Transformation Initiative (LETI) targets and scope.

The UKGBC Net Zero Carbon Definition Framework and energy performance benchmarks for office
buildings.

The forthcoming Net Zero Carbon Buildings Standard. Note: this initiative is currently in the pilot stage
(Pilot version rev2 - April 2025). Version 1is due in Q1 2026.

®,

inn
inn
1N
1IN

L]

11inn !
1IN e
o

500

kgCO,e/m?

Lnoo
(A0 -\ 50%
i N

Low Energy Transformation Initiative (LETI)

LETI has published several design guidance documents that set out a trajectory of embodied carbon and
operational energy targets required to address the climate emergency. The WLC Assessment scope associated
with their targets is limited to stages A1-A5 to practical completion.

50% —>

reused

350 Y250

kgCO,e/m?

kgCO, e/m?

7
AN
’
11NN

Key
Energy Use Intensity (EUI) targets outlined in the LETI Climate Emergency
design guide as well as 100% renewable energy supply must be met
Embodied carbon target
o % target of total building 500 (Building Life Cycle Stages
30% construction materials & oco et Al-A5). Includes Substructure,
reused elements that are reused & Superstructure, MEP, Facade &
Internal Finishes.
% target for building Embodied carbon target,
materials & elements 400 as above, also including
designed for reuse at the G sequestration.
building's end of life
kgCO,e/m?
reused
—{ 80%

reusable

V4
g 7IZI Bl 1111 LD i E

‘Business as Usual’

2020 Target 40% reduction over baseline

2030 Target 65% reduction over baseline

Figure 10: Example of LETI Carbon best practice targets for Commercial offices from LETI Embodied Carbon Primer (Jan 2020), Figure 7.1.

Whole life net zero target

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation




61 abed

UKGBC Net Zero Carbon Buildings Framework
Definition and UK Net Zero Carbon Building
Standard

The UKGBC sets out guidance in consultation with the industry to
define net zero carbon. At time of writing this planning guidance,

a building can claim to be net zero carbon in construction or

in operation or in both. UKGBC has published benchmarks for
operational energy with a trajectory to net zero carbon, but none for
embodied carbon at this time.

The framework requires third-party review of WLC Assessments

and operational energy assessments, including a minimum carbon
reporting template and information that needs to be publicly disclosed.
Notably, key differences between the UKGBC Net Zero Carbon
definition and the London Plan definition are shown in the following
table.

Since the above by the UKGBC took place, leading industry
organisations such as BBP, BRE, the Carbon Trust, CIBSE, IStructE,
LETI, RIBA, RICS, and UKGBC have joined forces to champion a UK
Net Zero Carbon Building Standard (UK NZCBS). The first pilot version
of the UK NZCBS has been released in September 2024. Following the
publication of the first pilot draft, the UK NZCBS is currently trialling
the pilot version of the Standard on real projects. The pilot testing
scheme aims to gather feedback on the process of implementing

the Standard across a range of sectors and project stages. The pilot
testing phase should be completed by Q4 2025 with the publication

of the first edition of the UK NZCBS in early 2026, ready for adoption
across the wider industry. The UK NZCBS pilot includes energy limits,
decreasing year on year, for different types of buildings including
offices. The limits differ from the UKGBC energy performance targets
shown in Table 3.

Table 3: Energy performance targets for buildings targeting net zero carbon for operational energy, Net zero carbon: energy performance targets for offices

UKGBC, January 2020.

Interim Targets

Interim Targets

Interim Targets

Paris Proof Target

Metric
2020-2025 2025-2030 2030-2035 2035-2050
Whole building kWhe/m?(NLA)/
energy Year 160 15 90 70
kWhe/m?3(GIA)/Year 130 90 70 55
DEC rating D90 C65 B50 B40
Base building kWhe/m?(NLA)/
energy Year 90 70 55 35
kWhe/m?3(GIA)/Year 70 55 45 30
NABERS UK star
rating 4.5 5 5.5 6
2
Tenant energy kWhqua(rN LAY 70 45 35 35

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation

23




Comparison of Net Zero Carbon definitions

Table 4: Comparison on UKGBC net zero carbon and London Plan net zero carbon definitions

London Plan GLA Reporting Requirements

UKGBC Net Zero Carbon

bon O pﬁ on

UK NZCBS Pilot Version - Revision 1

Whole Life-Cycle carbon

All life-cycle modules A-D
(B6, B7, and D not included in GLA benchmarks).

Minimum reporting Stages A1-A5, B4 for
superstructure ext. walls and windows/external
doors, B6 operation energy.

Full Assessment Modules A-C

Upfront embodied carbon (A1-A5) limits for projects
starting on site in 2025-2050, with performance
limits decreasing over time.

Currently no limits for lifecycle embodied carbon
(A-C, excl. B6-B7), only reporting requirements.
Lifecyle limits might be included in future versions of
the Standard.

Regulated operational carbon
emissions from energy use

Part L2 regulated carbon assessment used to
determine net zero carbon target

TM54 required for 'be seen’ (non-residential)

0G abed

Unregulated operational carbon
emissions from energy use

Unregulated energy to be estimated and
infrastructure in place to monitor, verify and report all
annual energy consumption.

NABERS UK Design for Performance (see below)
encouraged for commercial office buildings 5,000m?

TM54 requires for ‘be seen’ (non-residential)

Includes all energy use within declarant’s control

Whole building operational energy assessed and
reported, including both regulated and unregulated
energy use.

Minor exclusions: Electric vehicle charging, heavy
process loads managed by regulation, energy used
by external works and within car parks.

Energy use intensity limits (kWh/m?2GlA/year) for
different building typologies, decreasing over time.

Renewable energy generation

Priority for on-site renewables, but offsite
renewables are acceptable alternative to carbon
offset (conditional)

Onsite and off-site renewables

On-site renewable electricity generation targets
(kWh/m? building footprint / year) for different
building types and location

Upfront embodied carbon limits for PV panels per
peak power output (kgCO_e/kWp)

Carbon offsetting

Offset residual carbon relative to 100% regulated
carbon savings only, determined by Part L2 target.

Carbon offset is recommended as £95/tonnes CO,
paid in advance and for a 30-year life-cycle

Offset all residual carbon using an approved
international or domestic carbon offset standard,
applying standard market rates. UKGBC recommend
also using higher rate from HMT Green Book at the
time of offset to create Transition Fund for further
decarbonisation

Optional

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation




TG obed

Other carbon-related planning reports

There are other carbon-related planning reports that should also

be taken into consideration. They include greenhouse gas impact
assessments, the Circular Economy Statement, operational energy
and operational water assessments. Where relevant, these should be
referenced in WLC Assessment reporting, in particular to highlight
discrepancies and overlaps in design considerations and decisions.

Greenhouse gas reporting in Environmental Impact
Assessments

A greenhouse gas (GHG) is a gas that absorbs and emits radiant
energy within the thermal infrared range, essentially, they trap heat
causing the greenhouse effect. Very large developments, such as
infrastructure projects and high-rise buildings, usually require a GHG
chapter within the Environmental Impact Assessment scoping for a
planning application.

In February 2022 the Institute of Sustainability and Environmental
Professionals (ISEP) published an update to their guide ‘Assessing
Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Evaluating their Significance' (2nd
ed.) to align with government and industry agendas. The methodology
for writing this environmental impact assessment chapter includes a
full life-cycle scope, aligning with parts of the GLA WLC Assessment
method referred to above. The approach covers similar themes but
may not be as detailed as a full WLC Assessment due to the timing of
the assessment.

The differences in the approach include:

1. The scope of emitters is broader, including for example emissions
from operational transport and leaking F-gases (refrigerants). Note,
the GLA requires separate calculation of refrigerant emissions
(including fugitive emissions) in the reporting WLC Assessment
template.

2. The proposal is compared to a current baseline.

3. Exclusions, metrics, data quality, degree of uncertainty and
mitigation measures need to be defined.

4. GHG assessments can be carried out a lot earlier than a detailed
application WLC Assessment (to GLA standards), for example
for an Outline Planning Application, and therefore the results
tend to be based on industry averages and sector-level carbon
benchmarks for different type of buildings and/or building layers,
rather than specific design information of the proposed scheme.

The process and content of a GHG assessment is structured by
the ISEP guidance and should not preclude the need for a WLC
Assessment. In many cases, the information in relation to carbon in
a GHG assessment may differ from that of a WLC Assessment due
to timing and the accuracy of information available at the time of
assessment.

Table 5: GHG Management Hierarchy, 2020 (Source: ISEP, Assessing Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Evaluating their

Significance’ (2nd edition.)

IEMA Greenhouse Gas Management Hierarchy (updated 2020)

Substitute
= Adopt renewables/low-carbon technologies (on site, transport etc.)
« Reduce carbon (GHG) intensity of energy use and of energy purchased

= Purchase inputs and services with lower embodied/embedded emissions

Compensate
« Compensate ‘unavoidable’ residual emissions (removals, offsets etc.)
= Investigate land management, value chain, asset sharing, carbon credits

= Support climate action and developing markets (beyond carbon neutral)

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation




2G abed

GLA pre-application optioneering

The London Plan Guidance ‘Whole Life-Cycle Carbon Assessments’
(March 2022) explains how to calculate WLC emissions and the
information to be submitted to comply with the policy, including the
scope required. It also includes information on design principles and
WLC benchmarks (by life-cycle stage) to aid planning applicants

in designing buildings that have low operational carbon and low
embodied carbon.

The GLA WLC Assessment template needs to be completed at four
stages, namely at, pre-application, planning submission (outline and
detailed) and post construction (prior to occupation).

The GLA encourages WLC Assessments on major applications that
are not referable to the Mayor. The City Corporation is supportive

of this approach and requires that they are provided as part of the
planning application in line with the GLA requirements. In addition to
the above, City Corporation planning officers request, by condition, a
more detailed update of the WLC Assessment following the detailed
design phase (RIBA Stage 4) prior to construction when more design
and procurement information is available to the project team. This

is to ensure that the City Corporation is aware of and understands
opportunities and constraints through changes of and improvements
to developments.

The GLA WLC Assessment guidance includes a hierarchy of WLC
reduction principles (see Appendix 2 for full list) which should inform
the design of the development from the earliest stages and throughout
the WLC Assessment process. Principle 1is ‘Reuse and retrofit of
existing buildings.

At pre-application stage the following must be demonstrated:

Examples of how the design of the development addresses each
WLC principle or reasons why a principle cannot be met.

Options for retaining existing buildings and structures have

been fully explored before proposing substantial demolition,
including incorporating the fabric of existing buildings into the new
development (aligned with London Plan Guidance for Circular
Economy Statements, March 2022).

Carbon emissions associated with pre-construction demolition
(currently reported separately).

An estimate of the percentage of the new build development
which will be made up of existing fagades, structures and other
key components is reported.

An optional requirement to report on the effects of future
grid decarbonisation on the development’s embodied carbon
emissions.

If substantial demolition is proposed, applicants will need to
demonstrate that the benefits of demolition would clearly outweigh the
benefits of retaining the existing building or parts of the structure.

Further considerations and options in relation to the retention of
building elements and material are required by the circular economy
principles (see following page).

Note, the GLA requires the reporting of refrigerant Global Warming
Potential emissions in kgCO,e/m?GIA. This is important to include
in the WLC Assessment. The GLA requires reporting of refrigerant
impact in the WLC Assessment template spreadsheet. Measures
can be installed to prevent and manage refrigerant leakage to the
atmosphere. The requirement for leak detection and containment of
refrigerants as part of the commissioning process could be secured
through a condition.

Table 6: Extract from the GLA WLC Assessment template (March 2022) showing where and how the retention of existing building and

structures is reported

Retention of existing buildings and structures

Confirmation that options for retaining existing

buildings and structures have been fully explored before an explanation of opportunities and limitations, and why
considering substantial demolition

[Outline the options that have been considered - plus

demolition outweighs the benefits of retaining existing
buildings/structures where applicable]

Carbon emissions associated with pre-construction
demolition (kgCO,e)

[If estimates are not possible, please apply standard
assumption of 50kgCO,e/m? of the existing building/s]

ST IR R LWLt = To [N  Mi a LA VA o[V | [ e VN [T e | M [e.9. X% existing facades; Y% existing foundations; Z%
superstructures etc ]

which will be made up of existing elements

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation

26




€g abed

Circular Economy Statement

The Mayor of London's London Plan 2021 requires proposals referable
to the Mayor to calculate a development’s impacts and solutionsto
meet circular economy principles. It sets out the aim of retaining
material at their highest value for as long as possible, to increase reuse
and recycling, leaving minimal residual waste.

The reporting requirements and scope of the assessment are
described in a London Plan Guidance ‘Circular Economy Statements'
(adopted 25th March 2022), which structures a reporting framework
and principles to be considered by all referable applications. This
needs to be considered alongside the WLC Assessment.

The guidance includes requirements for a decision pathway to be
outlined and for pre-redevelopment and pre- demolition audits, which
need to be communicated at the earliest stages possible. The aim is
for projects to incorporate these into their brief at procurement stage.

The guidance sets out six principles which are seen as critical to the
design process:

1. Building in layers, ensuring that different parts of the building are
accessible and can be maintained and replaced where necessary.

2. Designing out waste, ensuring that waste reduction is planned in
from project inception to completion, including consideration of
standardised components, modular build, and reuse of secondary
products and materials.

3. Designing for longevity.
4. Designing for adaptability or flexibility.
5. Designing for disassembly.

6. Using systems, elements or materials that can be reused and
recycled.

The principles apply to the waste hierarchy to reduce or avoid waste
wherever possible and to try and ensure that materials are applied and
used at their highest value. The concept for building in layers attributes
design life to different aspects of the building in terms of skin, shell,
structure/frame, building services, Space/space plan/interior/ interior
space, stuff and contents.

Strategies for maximising residual value
Are there any bui!ding matgrials or ) No STI:\RT H'ER.E ' Yes ) Is.it technic':allly feas'ible and viaple to
elements available on site? Is there any existing building on the site? retain the building(s) in whole or in part?

l No Yes 1

Is it technically feasible and viable to recover the 'residual value' of Is the existing building suited to the new
the building elements or materials? use and requirements?

DEMOLISH AND RECYCLE DECONSTRUCT AND REUSE REPURPOSE REFURBISH

Strategies for maximising value over the lifetime of the development by adding new buildings / infrastructure

Is the expected life long or short?

Short Long

Will there be a market for elements with the required Will the use and/or requirements change?
dimensions / specifications? If so, how frequently?

No Yes Often (<5 yrs) Intermittent (5-25 yrs) Rare (>25 yrs)

Design for... Design for... Design for... Design for... Design for...
RECOVERABILITY REUSABILITY FLEXABILITY ADAPTABILITY LONGEVITY
All developments should design for...
DISASSEMBLY

Figure 11: Decision tree for design approaches to existing structures/buildings -GLA Circular Economy Guidance March 2022

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation




G abed

Carbon Emissions from Operational Energy and
Water

The WLC Assessment includes life-cycle stages B6 (Operational
Energy) and (B7 Operational Water). GLA planning policy currently
requires separate energy and water consumption reporting. This
section clarifies the requirements and overlaps between reporting
requirements. GLA benchmarks for life-cycle embodied carbon
exclude stages B6 and B7.

Operational Energy Modelling

NABERS UK ‘Design for Performance’ (DfP) and CIBSE TM54
‘Evaluating operational energy use at the design stage’ (2022) are
increasingly being used by applicants to more accurately estimate

and reduce operational energy during design, and to inform metering,
commissioning and management requirements to maintain low energy
consumption throughout a building's life-cycle.

BREEAM New Construction's operational energy modelling
requirements are similar. NABERS UK is the most onerous approach
of the three because of independent design reviews required during
design, post completion and post occupancy seasonal monitoring,
and tuning, metering infrastructure criteria to facilitate annual rating
and annual energy rating updates. Note that the UK Government is
proposing to introduce a new obligatory energy rating disclosure, that
aligns with NABERS UK, starting with all offices greater than

1,000m?, from 2022/23, indicatively. In addition, CIBSE TM54 has
recently aligned with NABERS UK Design for Performance (DfP), and
BREEAM is set to do the same at the next update (estimated 2023).

The GLA requires referable schemes to evaluate operational energy
as part of the 'be seen’ stage of the Energy Hierarchy. The associated
guidance sets out parameters for evaluating performance at the
planning, post-completion and in use stages of a development.

The planning stage requires an estimation of the regulated and
unregulated energy. The recommendation is for the use of analysis
guided by CIBSE TM54 'Evaluating operational energy use at the
design stage’. NABERS UK DfP is encouraged for office buildings
greater than 5,000 m2,

CIBSE, TM54 and NABERS UK give a far more accurate and
complete estimate of operational carbon emissions than Building
Regulations Part L as they allow for detailed prediction of regulated
and unregulated energy using more detail and realistic parameters to
evaluate energy performance, rather than a uniform set of

standardised regulated energy parameters. Part L modelling is used to
ensure that buildings meet the minimum energy efficiency standards
set by building regulations, while TM54 operational energy modelling
is used to identify areas where energy consumption can be reduced
and to inform decisions on building design and operation

Both the TM54 and NABERS UK (currently for commercial offices
only, other schemes are being developed) approaches align with the
reporting requirements of Stage B6 ‘Operational Energy Use’ under
the GLA's WLC Assessment Guidance (March 2022) and the GLA's
‘Be seen’ guidance.

The GLA also requires in use monitoring and Energy Use Intensity
(EUI) reporting of actual energy use for the first 3 years of a building’s
operation.

Operational water use

Operational water consumption in planning applications is currently
reported in 2 ways:

1. Part of the WLC Assessment (module B7), in line with the RICS
method, which requires all carbon emissions related to water
supply and wastewater treatment to be reported, using BSRIA
benchmarks initially, then estimated values once known. Carbon

conversion factors for water use and treatment as published by the

local water supplier should be used.

2. Part of the BREEAM Assessment, which aims to reduce and
benchmark the consumption of potable water for sanitary use
(credit Wat 01) in new and refurbished buildings through the use
of water efficient components and water recycling systems. City
Corporation’s current policy refers to requiring all BREEAM water
credits to be achieved.

The latter consumption evaluation is therefore limited to potable water
only, while the former looks at all water consumption and treatment
and associated carbon emissions. BREEAM does review non potable
water but in a qualitative way (credit Wat 04).

The UK Government is proposing to introduce a new obligatory water
rating disclosure (in a similar way to energy, above) and to regulate

all water consumption for different land uses. Currently only potable
water in residential uses is regulated.

Evaluating operational energy ‘ﬁ" )
use at the design stage f;'lil;:'SE

Figure 12: CIBSE TM54 'Evaluating operational energy use
at the design stage’ (2022)

NMABERS

LINITED KW GDT

HABERS LK
Guide to Design for
Performance

Weraan 1.1 - Apel 3021

Figure 13: The NABERS UK Design for Performance guidance manual

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation 28




Carbon Optio

Appendix 2 GLA WLC Assessment pre-application WLC reduction principles

Table 7: GLA WLC Reduction Principles

No. WLC reduction principles Key benefits

1 Reuse and retrofit of existing buildings Retaining existing built structures for reuse and retrofit, in part or as a whole, should be prioritised before considering substantial demolition, as
this is typically the lowest-carbon option. Significant retention and reuse of structures also reduces construction costs and can contribute to a
smoother planning process.

2 Use re-purposed or recycled materials Using repurposed or recycled or materials, as opposed to newly sourced materials, typically reduces the carbon emissions from constructing a
new building and reduces waste.

This process would start by reviewing the materials already on site for their potential for inclusion into the proposed scheme. Many of the currently
available standard products already include a degree of recycled content.

3 Material selection Appropriate low-carbon material choices are key to carbon reduction. Ensuring that materials are selected with consideration of the planned life
expectancy of the building reduces waste, the need for replacements, and the in-use costs. It is important to note that the overall lifetime carbon
emissions of a product can be as much down to its durability as to what it is made of. For example, bricks may have high carbon emissions in
terms of their manufacture, but they have an exceptionally long and durable life expectancy. The selection of reused or recycled materials and
products, plus products made from renewable sources, will also help reduce the carbon emissions of a project.

Minimise operational energy use A “fabric first' approach should be prioritised to minimise the heating and cooling requirement of a building and the associated systems. Naturally
ventilated buildings avoid the initial carbon and financial costs of a ventilation system installation, and the repeat carbon and financial costs of its
regular replacement.

GG abed
D

5 Minimise the carbon emissions associated with | Carbon emissions from water use are largely due to the materials and systems used for its storage and distribution, the energy required to transfer
operational water use it around the building, and the energy required to treat any wastewater. The choice of materials used and the durability of the systems, which help
avoid leakage and resulting damage to building fabric, are therefore key aspects of reducing the carbon emissions of water use. On-site water
collection, recycling and treatment, and storage can have additional positive environmental impacts as well as reducing in-use costs.

6 Disassembly and reuse Designing for future disassembly ensures that products do not become future waste, and that they maintain their environmental and economic
value.

A simple example is using lime rather than cement mortar - the former being removable at the end of a building’s life, the latter not. This enables
the building's components (e.g. bricks) to have a future economic value as they can be reused for their original purpose rather than becoming
waste or recycled at a lower level (e.g. hardcore in foundations).

Designing building systems (e.g. cladding or structure) for disassembly and dismantling has similar and even broader benefits. Ease of disassembly
facilitates easy access for maintenance and replacement leading to reduced maintenance carbon emissions and reduced material waste during
the in use and end-of-life phases. This leads to the potential for material and product reuse which also reduces waste and contributes to the
circular economy principle.

7 Building shape and form Compact efficient shapes help minimise both operational and embodied carbon emissions from repair and replacement for a given floor area. This
leads to a more efficient building overall, resulting in lower construction and in-use costs. A complex building shape with a large external surface
area in relation to the floor area requires a larger envelope than a more compact building. This measure of efficiency can be referred to as the ‘wall
to floor ratio’, or the ‘heat loss form factor’. This requires a greater use of materials to create the envelope, and a potentially greater heating and/or
cooling load to manage the internal environment.

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation 29




WLC reduction principles

Regenerative design

Carbon Optio

Key benefits

Removing carbon from the atmosphere through materials and systems absorbing it makes a direct contribution to carbon reduction. Examples
include unfinished concrete, some carpet products and maximising the amount of vegetation.

Designing for durability and flexibility

Durability means that repair and replacement is reduced which in turn helps reduce lifetime building costs. A building designed for flexibility can
respond with minimum environmental impact to future changing requirements and a changing climate, thus avoiding obsolescence which also
underwrites future building value. Buildings designed with this principle in mind will be less likely to be demolished at their end-of life as they
lend themselves to future refurbishment. Examples include buildings being designed with ‘soft spots’ in floors to allow for future modification and
design, as well as non-structural internal partitions to allow layout change.

10

Optimisation of the relationship between
operational and embodied carbon

Optimising the relationship between operational and embodied emissions contributes directly to resource efficiency and overall cost reduction. For
example, the use of insulation has a clear carbon benefit whereas its fabrication will generate carbon emissions. This means that it is important

to look not only at the U-value of insulation, but also the carbon emissions from the manufacture and installation of different product options.
Avoiding fully glazed fagades will reduce cooling demand and limits the need for high-carbon materials (glass units, metal frame, shading device
etc.) at both the construction and in-use stages through wholesale replacements.

1

Building life expectancy

Defining building life expectancy gives guidance to project teams as to the most efficient choices for materials and products. This aids overall
resource efficiency, including cost efficiency and helps future-proof asset value.

12

oG abed

Local sourcing

Sourcing local materials reduces transport distances, and therefore supply chain lengths; and has associated local social and economic benefits,
e.g. employment opportunities. It also has benefits for occupiers as replacement materials are easier to source. Transport type is also highly
relevant. A product transported by ship will have significantly lower carbon emissions per mile than one sent by HGV. A close understanding of
the supply chain and its transport processes is therefore essential when selecting materials and products.

13

Minimising waste

Waste represents unnecessary and avoidable carbon emissions. Buildings should be designed to minimise fabrication and construction waste,
and to ease repair and replacement with minimum waste, which helps reduce initial and in-use costs. This can be achieved through the use

of standard sizes of components and specification and by using modern methods of construction (MMC). Where waste is unavoidable, the
designers should establish the suppliers’ processes for disposal or preferably reuse or recycling of waste.

14

Efficient construction

Efficient construction methods (e.g. modular systems, precision manufacturing and MMC) can contribute to better build quality, reduce
construction-phase waste and reduce the need for repairs in the post completion and defects period (snagging). These methods can also enable
future disassembly and reuse with associated future carbon savings.

15

Lightweight construction

Lightweight construction uses less material, which reduces the emissions of the building as there is less material to source, fabricate and deliver
to site. Foundations can then also be reduced with parallel savings. Lightweight construction can also be easier to design for future disassembly
and reuse. The benefits of lighter construction should be seen in the context of other principles such as durability.

16

Circular economy

The circular economy principle focuses on a more efficient use of materials which in turn leads to financial efficiency. Optimising recycled
content, reuse and retrofit of existing buildings; and designing new buildings for easy disassembly, reuse and retrofit, and recycling as equivalent
components for future reuse are essential. The use of composite materials and products can make future recycling difficult. Where such products
are proposed, the supplier should be asked for a method statement for future disposal and recycling.

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation



)G abed

Glossary

The below included a series of definition for terms used in the
document. A number of these terms are aligned with industry
standards including the document Improving Consistency in Whole
Life Carbon Reporting Assessment and report - Carbon definitions

for the Built Environment Buildings and Infrastructure, January 2023
(https://www.leti.uk/carbondefinitions). ‘This document was put
together initially by a working group within the Whole Life Carbon
Network (WLCN, a group of some 90 built environment professionals)
and includes detailed discussions between WLCN, LETI, CIBSE, RIBA,
RICS, IStructE, ICE, and UKGBC. The "Definitions’ are structured around
CEN TC 350 life-cycle modules, (e.g. BS EN 15978:2011 for buildings, BS
EN 17472: 2022, PAS 2080:2016 for Infrastructure, BS EN 15643 2021,)

Absolute Zero Carbon: Eliminating all carbon emissions without the
use of offsets.

Approved Document Part L conservation of fuel and power: Part L
is a building regulation that covers both new and changes to existing
dwellings and non-dwellings. Part L sets minimum requirements and
targets for energy performance and carbon emissions. It also defines
the carbon intensity of fuel and power.

Beyond Life-cycle (Beyond-LC): Carbon emissions arising from any
benefits or burdens of materials and components beyond the life-cycle
(Module D).

Biogenic Carbon: ‘Biogenic Carbon’ refers to the carbon removals
associated with carbon sequestration into biomass as well as any
emissions associated with this sequestered carbon. Biogenic carbon
must be reported separately if reporting only upfront carbon but
should be included in the total if reporting embodied carbon or whole
life carbon.

BREEAM - Building Research Establishment Environmental
Assessment Method: A leading and well-established scheme for the
evaluation, rating and certification of the sustainability of buildings
developed by the BRE. It is the main sustainability certification
standard in the UK but also is used internationally. The main schemes
apply to new buildings and both non-domestic refurbishment and fit-
outs and domestic refurbishments.

Carbon Dioxide equivalent (CO,e): A metric expressing the impact
of all greenhouse gases on a carbon dioxide basis. A measure used
to compare the emissions from various greenhouse gases based
upon their global warming potential in a common unit over a 100
year period. E.g. 1 kg of methane is converted into the amount of CO,
needed to cause the same effect, in this case 23 kg. Therefore 1 Kg of
methane has a CO, equivalent of 23.

Carbon Sequestration: ‘Carbon sequestration’ is the process by

which carbon dioxide is removed from the atmosphere and stored
within a material - e.g. stored as ‘biogenic carbon’ in ‘biomass’ by

plants/trees through photosynthesis and other processes.

Climate Change: Climate change refers to long-term shifts in
temperatures and weather patterns. These shifts may be natural,
such as through variations in the solar cycle. However, since the
1800s, human activities have been the main driver of climate change,
primarily due to burning fossil fuels like coal, oil and gas.

Densification: Is a term used by planners, designers, developers and
theorists to describe the increasing density of people living in/using
urban areas. There are a number of metrics attributing to densification,
one is total building floor area divided by the area of land the buildings
are built on.

Embodied Carbon or Life-Cycle Embodied Carbon: Embodied
carbon emissions of an asset are the total GHG emissions and
removals associated with materials and construction processes
throughout the whole life-cycle of an asset (Modules A0-A5, B1-B5,
C1-C4, with A0 assumed to be zero for buildings). (A0 is generally
assumed to be zero for buildings, however for infrastructure projects
A0 can include ground investigations and activities associated with
designing the asset)

Energy use intensity (EUI): An indicator of the energy efficiency of

a building's design and/or operations. It is the total amount of energy
used in a building in a year divided by its floor area (kwh/m?/yr). It can
be expressed in terms of GIA or NLA, and this should be clearly stated
when reporting.

Environmental Aspect: An aspect of construction works, part of
works, processes or services related to their life-cycle that can cause
change to the environment.

Environmental Impact: A change to the environment, whether
adverse or beneficial, wholly or partially, resulting from environmental
aspects.

Environmental Product Declaration (EPD): A transparent, objective
report that communicates what a product or material is made of and

how it impacts the environment across its entire life-cycle. An EPD is
usually valid for five years, and is generated according to a number of
relevant standards.

Carbon Options Guids

Global Warming: Is the long-term heating of Earth’s climate system
observed since the pre-industrial period (between 1850 and 1900) due
to human activities, primarily fossil fuel burning, which increases heat-
trapping greenhouse gas levels in Earth's atmosphere.

Global Warming Potential (GWP): The standard metric used to
calculate CO, equivalent emissions of different greenhouse gases
in carbon budgets and the Kyoto Protocol. GWP measures the total
radiative forcing over a given period (usually 100 years) after a pulse
emission, relative to that from the same mass of CO.,,.

Greenhouse Effect: A process that occurs when gases in Earth's
atmosphere trap the Sun's heat. This process makes the Earth much
warmer than it would be without an atmosphere.

Greenhouse Gases (GHGs): 'Greenhouse Gases' are constituents
of the atmosphere, both natural and anthropogenic, that absorb and
emit radiation at specific wavelengths within the spectrum of infrared
radiation emitted by the Earth's surface, the atmosphere, and clouds:
For these ‘carbon definitions’, we are only addressing the GHGs with
Global Warming Potential assigned by the Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change (IPCC), e.g. carbon dioxide (CO,), methane (CH,),
nitrous oxide (N,O), hydrofluorocarbons (HFC's), perfluorocarbons
(PFC's), and sulphur hexafluoride (SF6).

Grid Decarbonisation: The gradual reduction of the carbon intensity
of electricity production.

Gross Internal Area (GIA): The area of a building measured to the
internal face of the perimeter walls at each floor level. In the UK this is
determined according to Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS)
property measurement standards.

IMPACT (Integrated Material Profile and Costing Tool): A
specification and database for software developers to incorporate

into their tools to enable consistent Life-Cycle Assessment (LCA) and
Life-Cycle Costing (LCC). IMPACT compliant tools work by allowing
the user to attribute environmental and cost information to drawn

or scheduled items in the BIM. Put simply, IMPACT takes quantity
information from the BIM and multiplies this by environmental impact
and/or cost ‘rates’ to produce an overall impact and cost for the whole
(or a selected part) of the design.

Life-cycle: consecutive and interlinked stages in the life of the object
under consideration.

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation 31



https://www.leti.uk/carbondefinitions

qG abed

Life-Cycle Assessment (LCA): is a process to evaluate the
environmental burdens associated with a product, process or activity:

By identifying and quantifying energy and materials used and
wastes released to the environment;

To access the impact of those energy and materials used and
releases to the environment; and

To identify and evaluate opportunities to affect environmental
improvements.

The assessment includes the entire life-cycle (from cradle to grave)

of the product, process or activity encompassing extracting and
processing of raw materials, manufacturing, transportation and
distribution, use and reuse, maintenances, recycling and final disposal.

Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES): The Energy
Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations
2015 established the new Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards in the
residential and commercial private rented sector in 2016.

NABERS UK ‘Design for Performance’ (DfP): A building rating
scheme (currently for offices only) designed to help projects deliver
against their design intent and overcome the well-evidenced
performance gap between design and operation. It requires a
developer or owner to commission a new office to a defined rating. It
is a more detailed way of undertaking an energy model with the aim
of enabling better design decisions to help reduce carbon emissions
once the building is operating.

Net Zero Carbon: A 'net zero (whole life) carbon asset is one where
the total sum of all assets related to GHG emissions, both operational
and embodied, over an asset’s life-cycle (Modules A0-A5, B1- B,
C1-C4) are minimised, which meets local carbon, energy and water
targets or limits, and with residual ‘offsets’, equals zero.

NABERS Energy: NABERS Energy measures the efficiency of an
office building and rates its performance (0-6 Stars). The energy rating
works by comparing the energy consumption of a building against a
set of benchmarks that have been developed using actual data. It is
based on in-use data.

Operational Energy (modelling): A detailed energy model that
attempts to reflect real world energy consumption of a building
during the design and construction stages of a development. This
would include more detail than a standard model used for building
regulations, and would include unregulated energy.

Operational Carbon Energy building (use): ‘Operational Carbon -
Energy’' (Module B6) are the GHG emissions arising from all energy
consumed by an asset in-use, over its life-cycle.

Operational Carbon Water (use): ‘Operational Carbon-Water'
(Module B7) are those GHG emissions arising from water supply and
wastewater treatment for an asset in-use, over its life-cycle.

Recycling: Recycling is the process of converting waste materials
into new materials and objects. A recovery operation by which waste
materials are reprocessed into products, materials or substances
either for the original purpose or other purposes.

Refurbishment: Modification and improvements to an existing
building in order to bring it up to an acceptable condition. The
refurbishment of something is the act or process of cleaning it,
decorating it, and providing it with new equipment or facilities.
However, upgrades to, or installation of new, equipment or materials
with the primary intention of improving efficiency or reducing
environmental impact (e.g. heat pumps or triple glazing) would be
defined as retrofitting.

Regulated Energy Consumption: The building energy consumption
resulting from the specification of controlled, fixed building services
and fittings, including space heating and cooling, hot water,
ventilation, fans, pumps and lighting.

Retrofit: This is defined as the upgrading of a building in relation to
the installation of new building systems or building fabric to improve
efficiency, reduce environmental impacts and/or adapt for climate
change. A range of interventions may be deployed, from ‘light retrofit’
to ‘deep retrofit’. The City Corporation considers that a retrofit should
retain and reuse at least 50% of the existing building(s)' superstructure
(by mass), and it could or could not include a vertical or horizontal or
infill extension.

TM 54: A CIBSE technical memorandum that covers all types of
building energy modelling with the aim of more accurately estimating
a building's energy consumption in the design process and allowing
more meaningful comparison with actual in-use consumption once
operational.

UK NZCBS: UK Net Zero Carbon Standard aims to robustly verify that
buildings are Net Zero Carbon Aligned, in accordance with the UK's
climate targets.The Standard was created through unprecedented
collaboration within the UK built environment industry, and is backed
by building data and science-led modelling.

Carbon Options

Unregulated energy: Energy consumption that is not ‘controlled’,

it does not fall under Part L of the Building regulations. This would
include consumption from elements such as IT equipment, lifts and
other plug-in equipment such as white goods, laboratory equipment,
external lighting and audio visual equipment.

Upfront Carbon Embodied Carbon at Practical Completion:
‘Upfront carbon’ emissions are the GHG emissions associated with
materials and construction processes up to practical completion
(Modules A0-A5). Upfront carbon excludes the biogenic carbon
sequestered in the installed products at practical completion. Al-
A3 covering materials product, A4 transport of materials and A5
construction and installation processes.

Whole life-cycle Carbon (WLC) or Whole Life Carbon over Life-
Cycle: Whole life carbon emissions are the total sum of all asset
related GHG emissions and removals, both operational and embodied
over the life-cycle of an asset including its disposal (Modules: A0-A5;
B1-B7; B8 optional; C1-C4, all including biogenic carbon, with A0*
assumed to be zero for buildings). Overall whole life carbon asset
performance includes separately reporting the potential benefits or
loads from future energy or material recovery, reuse, and recycling and
from exported utilities (Modules D1, D2). * A0 is generally assumed

to be zero for buildings, however for infrastructure projects A0 can
include ground investigations and activities associated with designing
the asset.

Demolition of existing structures or buildings must be separately
identified and included within Module A5.

Application types:
FULLEIA: any application requiring EIA in support

FULMAIJ: - Any application over 1,000m? - major applications may
include schemes for redevelopment, substantial refurbishments and
extensions. Residential development of 10 or more dwellings or on a
site of 0.5 hectares or more, and all other development of 1,000 square
metres gross or more floorspace, or on a site of 1 hectare or more.

FULL: All other full applications including minor applications for
development

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation 32




6G abed

Organisations referenced in this Carbon Options
Guidance:

BBP: The Better Buildings Partnership is a collaboration of

leading property owners who are working together to improve the
sustainability of commercial buildings. It aims to enable market
transformation through sustainability leadership and collaboration,
improve professional understanding through knowledge sharing and
to develop common approaches with our members, stimulating the
property industry to deliver buildings that perform better.

BRE: The Building Research Establishment is a centre of building
science in the United Kingdom, owned by charitable organisation the
BRE Trust. It is a former UK Government national laboratory that was
privatised in 1997. BRE contributes to a thriving and sustainable world
by developing science-led solutions to built environment challenges,
making buildings better for people and for the environment. It provides
services, standards and qualifications that are used around the

world to improve the built environment. BRE is a profit-for-purpose
organisation. Any profits from BRE's work go to the BRE Trust, which
invests in research projects for the public benefit, or are invested in
upgrading the research facilities at the BRE Science Park.

Carbon Trust: The Carbon Trust was founded by the UK Government
in 2001, with the unique purpose of driving decarbonisation for
businesses, governments and financial institutions. They don't have
shareholders and reinvest any financial surplus to further grow their
impacts. Their mission is to accelerate the move to a decarbonised
future. They partner with leading businesses, governments, and
financial institutions to accelerate routes to Net Zero.

CIBSE: The Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers is the
professional body that exists to advance and promote the art, science
and practice of building services engineering, to invest in education
and research, and to support the community of built environment
professionals in their pursuit of excellence.

ISEP: Institute of Sustainability and Environmental Practitioners
(formerly known as the IEMA) is the global membership body that sets
the standard for anyone wanting to sustainable change that delivers
for the environment society or the economy. ISEP's purpose is to
empower their members to become global change makers of the can
transform the world today for a sustainable future.

IStructE: The Institution of Structural Engineers is a professional body that
leads and supports the development of structural engineering worldwide,
in order to secure a safe and resilient built environment for all.

LETI: The Low Energy Transformation Initiative is a voluntary network
of over 1,000 built environment professionals, working together

to put the UK and the planet on the path to a zero-carbon future.
Their vision is to understand and clarify what this means in the built
environment and develop the actions needed to meet the UK climate
change targets. Volunteers are made up of developers, engineers,
housing associations, architects, planners, academics, sustainability
professionals, contractors and facilities managers, with support and
input provided by local authorities and other organisations

NABERS (UK): The National Australian Built Environment Rating
System UK is a simple, reliable system for rating the energy efficiency
of office buildings across England, Wales, Scotland and Northern
Ireland. NABERS UK measures and rates the actual energy use of
offices, helping building owners to accurately track and communicate
the energy performance of their buildings. It also helps identify areas
for savings and improvements, and provides a rating system of 1-6
stars (1 being poor to 6 being market leading). NABERS UK is an
adaptation of the highly successful rating programme NABERS that
operates in Australia. Launched in Australia in 1999, NABERS is widely
considered to be a world leading environmental performance rating
tool for commercial buildings. NABERS UK is administered by BRE,
who are responsible for the day-to-day operations of the scheme.
The strategic operations of NABERS UK are overseen by a steering
committee comprising BRE, the Better Buildings Partnership and
NABERS.

RIBA: The Royal Institute of British Architects is a global professional
membership body driving excellence in architecture. They serve their
members and society in order to deliver better buildings and places,
stronger communities and a sustainable environment. Being inclusive,
ethical, environmentally aware and collaborative underpins all that they do.

RICS: The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors is a global
professional body for those working in the built environment,
construction, land, property and real estate. The RICS was founded in
London in 1868. RICS promotes and enforces the highest professional
qualifications and standards in the development and management of
land, real estate, construction and infrastructure. The work of RICS
professionals is hugely varied.

UKGBC: The UK Green Building Council is a charity organisation
with over 700 members and was formed in 2007. It aims to add clarity,
collaborate and improve the way that the built environment in the UK
is planned, designed, constructed, maintained and operated. UKGBC
is part of the World Green Building Council.

Planning advice note | City of London Corporation

33




Page 60




B

Hilson
W?ﬂc\d H ‘ Moran
Clo'!'Y
LONDON

City of London Corporation Carbon Options Tool

Revision: 02

Date: December 2025

This tool contains the minimum reporting requirements expected for all carbon optioneering studies submitted to the City of London Corporation during the pre-app stage.
The Carbon Options Tool should be submitted by the applicant in Excel format, accompanying a summary carbon optioneering report which should explain and clearly present

the outcome of the optioneering to any interested parties scrutinising application proposals (third-party reviewer, public, councillors).

This reporting tool is to be completed based on the requirements outlined in the Planning Advice Note: Carbon Options Guidance, December 2025, Rev 02.

Carbon Options Guidance

Planni ivice N
4
ada
w I I Hilson
Y Moran

LONDON

Rev 02 of the COG PAN can be downloaded here: Sustainable development planning requirements.

How to use this reporting tool

Dashboard 1 - Applicant Inputs
Table A in this section should be populated in its entirety by the applicant for each of the options included in the carbon optioneering study.

With regard to the following inputs: Scope of works summary (row 6), Description of anticipated temporary works (if any) (row 7), Opportunities and main benefits (row 8), Constraints and
challenges (row 9) and Notes and assumptions used for WLC calculations (row 51) please provide a summary commentary for each option (a more detailed description can be provided in the
accompanying optioneering report).

Any values/fields that are not applicable for the options assessed should be left as blank. Alternatively, enter '0".

Multi-building sites - This tool should be completed with the cumulative information of the whole development, however the applicants should provide additional granularity and include specific
information for each building within the accompanying optioneering report. More details can be found in Section 6 of the COG PAN: Carbon Options Guidance.

Cumulative carbon impacts

This section includes two tables:

Table B is partially auto populated from the data entered by the applicant in the 'Dashboard - Applicant Inputs' tab . Blue cells require manual entry from the applicant.
Table Cis automatically populated and cannot be modified by the applicant.

Outputs
This entire section is auto populated based on data entered by the applicant in Table A and Table B.
All figures, tables and graphs available in this section can be exported and used within the carbon optioneering report, should the applicant wish to.

All rights are reserved. Copyright in the Carbon Options Tool (2025) remains vested in City of London Corporation and Hilson Moran Partnership Limited and any improper use may constitute an
infingement of copyright. The Carbon Options Tool and/or data is relevant as of its original date at the point of its latest revision (December 2025). City of London Corporation / Hilson Moran
Partnership Limited accepts no liability or responsibility whatsoever for or in respect of any use of or reliance upon any advice or information contained within the Carbon Options Tool or for its
accuracy, suitability or completeness. Nothing in the Carbon Options Tool constitutes professional advice and no reliance is given as to the data without independent verification. City of London
Corporation / Hilson Moran Partnership Limited accepts no responsibility or liability for claims costs, any damage or loss caused by the use of the Carbon Options Tool nor are they responsible for
any representations, warranties, expressed or implied, regarding its use.

Page 61


https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/services/planning/planning-application-requirements/sustainable-development-planning-requirements

Table A: Options information

Development option name

Development option image.

Scope of works summary.

Desciiption of anticipated femporary works (f any)

‘Opportunities and main benefits

Constraints and challenges

Existing Gross Infernal Area (GIA) being demolished, m*

Existing Gross Infernal Area (GIA) being refained, m*

PROPOSED Gross Infemal area (GIA), m*

Existing Net Infernal area (NIA), m?

PROPOSED Net Internal area (NIA), m*

st of existing materials and buiding(s) elements being demolished

Overall buiding(s) height AOD, m

load-bearing walls], % by
mass

Fagade refention (external walls, windows and extemal doors), % by area

Pre-consiruction demolfion impact

(kgCOe/m? GIA)

Uptront Embodied Carbon (A1-AS)

Excl- sequestration (kgCOe/m* GIA)

Temporary works (where relevant)

Option 1

Option 2

Option 3

Option 4

Option 5

Substructure

vpperl 9

Facade (extemal walls, windows and extemal doors)
Internal walls (Infernal walls and partifions)

Finishes (wall, floor ond celling finshes]
Fitings,furnishings & equipment

(kgCO,e/m? GIA)

Bulding services (MEP and verfical iransporiation)
Prefabricated buidings and building units

Upfront Embodied Carbon (A1-AS)
Results by element category breakdown

Works to existing building
External works

In-Use Embodied Carbon (81-85)
(kgCOze/m* GIA)

End-of-Life Embodied Carbon (C1-C4)
(kgCOe/m=GIA)

Whole Buiiding Operational Energy
{kWh/m2 GIA per year]
Whole Building Operational Energy

[Wh/m? NIA per year)

‘Operational Carbon (86)
(kgCOze/m* GlA)

Energy source(s)

(%)
Hechiclty carbon factor (kaCO.e/kWh)

Percentage of gas on overall operational energy (%]
‘Gas carbon factor (kKaCO,e/kWh slectric equivalent]
)
Distict heafing carbon factor (kaCO:e/kWh)

Distict cooling carbon factor (kaCOze/kWh]
EPCrating

Notes and assumptions used for WLC calculations

Other energy source:

[ Em——

Other energy source:

[ P

Other energy source:

[ Em——

o

Other energy source:

[ P

Other energy source:

Dlowicsrg Dlowacoiny o e ectybeion




Moron

% H‘Mul

Page 63




EXZS

Hilson
ciry I I Moran
LONDON

Table D: Development options areas and retention rates

Option name 0 0 0 0 0
Gross Internal Area (m?) 0 0 0 0 0
Change in GIA (compared to existing), % #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0!
Net Internal Area (m?) 0 0 0 0 0
Change in NIA (compared to existing), % #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0! #DIV/0!
(% by mass) 0% 0% 0%
Superstructure retention (% by mass) 0% 0% 0%
Fagade retention (% by area) 0% 0% O%
Table E: Whole life carbon emissions - Carbon intensities (kgCO.e/m*GIA)
Option name 0 0 0 0 0
Pre-construction demolition impact (kgCO.e/m? GIA) 0 0 0 0 0
Upfront Embodied Carbon (A1-A5) (kgCO,e/m? GlA) 0 0 0 0 0
In-Use Embodied Carbon (B1-B5) (kgCO,e/m? GIA) 0 0 0 0 0
Operational Carbon (B8) (kgCO,e/m? GIA) 0 0 0 0 0
End-of-Life Embodied Carbon (C1-C4) (kgCO.e/m? GIA) 0 0 0 0 0
Whole Life Carbon (A1-AS, B1-Bé, C1-C4) (kgCO,e/m? GIA) 0 0 0 0 0
Including pre-construction demolition
Carbon at (Pre-C +A1-A5) Lifecycle embodied carbon (A1-AS5, B1-B5, C1-C4)
1 1
1 1
1 1
1 1
< <
o1 o1
2 €
g Eal
9 o
ié’ ° g., 0
0 0
0 0
0 0
0 0
Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 5
= Pre-Construction Demolition  Upfront Embodied Carbon (A1-A5) = Upfront Embodied Carbon (A1-A5) *In-Use Embodied Carbon (B1-B5) ® End-of-Life Embodied Carbon (C1-C4)
Operational carbon emissions (B6) Whole Life Carbon (A1-A5, B1-B6, C1-C4) p
1 1
1 1
1 1
1 1
<
< o1
0! T
E Y
a! 9
o Qo
g,, 0 2 .
0
0
0
0
0
o
0 Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Opfion 5
Opfion 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5  Pre-Construction Demoliion = Upfront Embodied Carbon (A1-AS5) In-Use Embodied Carbon (81-B5)
Operational Carbon (B6) Operational Carbon (B6) = End-of-Life Embodied Carbon (C1-C4)

Table E: Whole life carbon emissions - Total emissions (fonnesCO,e)

Page 64




Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5
Option name 0 0 0 0 0
Pre-construction demolition impact (tonnesCO,e) 0 0 0 0 0
Upfront Embodied Carbon (A1-A5) (tonnesCO,e) 0 0 0 0 0
In-Use Embodied Carbon (B1-B5) (tonnesCO,e) 0 0 0 0 0
Operational Carbon (Bé) (ftonnesCO,e) 0 0 0 0 0
End-of-Life Embodied Carbon (C1-C4) (fonnesCO,e) 0 0 0 0 0
Whole Life Carbon (A1-AS5, B1-Bé, C1-C4) (fonnesCO.e) 0 0 0 0 0
Including pre-construction demolition
Carbon issi at (Pre-C +Al1-AS5) Lifecycle embodied carbon (A1-AS5, B1-B5, C1-C4)
1 2,000
1
1
1
21 o,
o o
@4 Q
i i
& &
L0 2
o
o
0
0 0
Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option § Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option §
= Pre-Construction Demolition Upfront Embodied Carbon (A1-AS) Upfront Embodied Carbon (A1-AS) In-Use Embodied Carbon (81-85) End-of-Life Embodied Carbon (C1-C4)
Operational carbon emissions (Bé) Whole Life Carbon (A1-AS5, B1-Bé, C1-C4) il p!
1 1
i 1
1
1
| 1
b3
21 9
Q 21
c so
£ s
L0
0
0 o
o 0
o 0
. Opfion 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5
Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5  Pre-Construction Demoliion Upfront Embodied Carbon (A1-A5) In-Use Embodied Carbon (B1-85)
Operational Carbon (B¢) Operational Carbon (B6) End-of-Life Embodied Carbon (C1-C4)
Table F: Whole Building Operational energy - Energy Use Infensities
Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5
Option name 0 0 0 0 0
Whole Building Operational Energy (kWh/m? GIA per year) 0 0 0 0 0
Whole Building Operational Energy (kWh/m? NIA per year) 0 0 0 0] 0
Energy Use Intensities - Options comparison
0
0
Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5
kWh/m2GIA/year mkWh/m2NIA/year

Cumulative carbon emissions (kgCO,e/m? GIA)

100

Cumulative carbon emissions over a study period of 60 years

Page 65




kgCO,e/m? GIA

Option 1

==Qption 2

Option 3

=Qption 4

==Qption 5

8

59

6 Eol

Page 66




Agenda ltem 14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 15

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 16

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Review of the Carbon Options Guidance Planning Advice Note
	04 COGR App 1
	04 COGR App 2
	Introduction


	14 Non-Public Minutes
	15 Debt Arrears - Environment Department (P&T Committee) - Period Ending 30/09/25
	15 Debt Arrears App1
	15 Debt Arreas App 2
	15 Debt Arrears App 3 v2

	16 Heat Network Zoning (Phase 1) Procurement Stage 1 Report
	16 HNZ App 1
	16 HNZ App 2
	16 HNZ App 3
	16 HNZ App 4
	16 HNZ App 5


